
 

    

 

Pension Fund Committee  AGENDA 
 
 

DATE: 

 

Tuesday 25 June 2013 

 

TIME: 

 

6.30 pm 

 

VENUE: 

 

Committee Room 6, 

Harrow Civic Centre 

 
 
 

 

 MEMBERSHIP      (Quorum 3) 

   

  Chairman: 

 

Councillor Richard Romain  

 

  Councillors: 

 
Tony Ferrari 
 

Keith Ferry 
Sachin Shah 
 

 

 
(Non-voting Co-optee): 

Trade Union Observer(s): 

Mr H Bluston 

Mr S Compton - UNISON  
Mr S Karia - GMB 

 
 

Reserve Members: 

 
1. Stephen Wright 
2. Kam Chana 
 

1. Bill Phillips 
2. Bill Stephenson 
 

 

 
    

    

Contact:  Una Sullivan, Democratic & Electoral Services Officer 

Tel:  020 8424 1785    E-mail:  una.sullivan@harrow.gov.uk 
 



 

Pension Fund Committee - 25 June 2013 

 AGENDA - PART I   
 

1. ATTENDANCE BY RESERVE MEMBERS    
 
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 

 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the 

Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after 

the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act 
as a Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after 
his/her arrival. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising 

from business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Panel; 
(b) all other Members present. 
 

3. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN    
 
 To appoint a Vice-Chairman of the Pension Fund Committee for the Municipal Year 

2013-14. 
 
 

4. MINUTES   (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 That the minutes of the Pension Fund Investment Panel meeting held on 6 March 

2013 be taken as read and signed as a correct record. 
 

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS    
 
 To receive questions (if any) from local residents/organisations under the provisions 

of Committee Procedure Rule 17 (Part 4B of the Constitution). 
 

6. PETITIONS    
 
 To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under 

the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4B of the Constitution). 
 

7. DEPUTATIONS    
 
 To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 

16 (Part 4B) of the Constitution. 
 



 

Pension Fund Committee - 25 June 2013 

 
8. PENSION IMPLICATION OF SERVICE OUTSOURCING   (Pages 9 - 14) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 

 
9. INFORMATION REPORT - PRESENTATION BY WM   (Pages 15 - 16) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 

 
10. REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES   (Pages 17 - 30) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 

 
11. EQUITY TRAINING AND BELIEFS   (Pages 31 - 74) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 

 
12. INFRASTRUCTURE AND LOCAL INVESTING   (Pages 75 - 90) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 

 
13. EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2012-13   (Pages 91 - 118) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 

 
14. INFORMATION REPORT - UPDATE REPORT AND ACTION POINTS FROM 

PREVIOUS MEETINGS   (Pages 119 - 126) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 

 
15. LONDON PENSION FUND COLLABORATION   (Pages 127 - 142) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 

 
16. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 Which cannot otherwise be dealt with. 

 
 AGENDA - PART II   

 
17. INFORMATION REPORT - INVESTMENT MANAGER MONITORING   (Pages 143 

- 198) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 

 
18. INFORMATION REPORT - PERFORMANCE OF FUND MANAGERS FOR 

QUARTER ENDED 31 MARCH 2013   (Pages 199 - 204) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 

 
 [Please note that Aon Hewitt, Advisers to the Fund, will be attending this meeting.]   

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



�

� ���������	�
�������������������������������� ��������

�
�

���������	�
������������

��������

��	����

�

������������
�
�
��������	� �� ��	�������������������
� � �
�
����
��	� �� ������������� ���

�� !������������
�

�� "�����
�"������
�

�
�
�����
��
���
�����	�
�

�� #�$��
�%�	����
�

&� '�������(���
�� '�� ���������
�

��� '���� ����)� ��� ����*� +�$���� ��
� ��� ,����� ��-	���� ���
�
� ���
��(������������.�/���#�$�)������	����0��/
�����1�
�
�� ����������2���(������
&� ��������(���*�����������
�
�
�

����� �������������� �������!���������
�
 "#$%&"'	��!��������������$�������"����������2����������
����1�
�

����� '�������
���
(�)����������
�
 "#$%&"'	� � !�� ���� ��� ����� $���� ��� 
����������� �.� �������� ��
�� 2��
���2���1�
�

��*�� !���������
�
 "#$%&"'	� � !��� ��� ���	��� �.� ��� �����*� ���
� ��� 3� 4��	���� ����� 2��
�5���������
���
���*��
������������������
1�
�

Agenda Item 4
Pages 1 to 8

1



�

�������� � ���������	�
��������������������������������

��+�� ,�����-�����
��.�,�����
�������'�������
�����
�
 "#$%&"'	� � !�� ���� ��� ��� (������� $���� �������
)� 6	������� (	)� ���

�(	�������������
�	�
������(�����������.�����������������
	���"	����
�7)��8���
���1�
�

 "#$%&"'�)/"!#���
�

��0�� )�(
�����
��  ��
��� �� 1������  ��
��� ���� ����
�� ,
����� (�
�� ,����
���
!����������
�
!��� ������ �������
� �� ��(��� �.� ��� ���(����� �������� �.� "���	����� $�����
(����
�
����	(
��������������5���������������������*1��/���..������

�
�
��� $�� �.� ��� �	���
��*� ����� $���� ��� ��� �*��
�� .��� ���� �����*1� � #��
.	����� �
����
� ��� ������ ��� ��� ��	������ �����$� $��� 
	�)� ��
� ��� ���
��	����0�� /�	���� $�	�
� (������ ����� .��
��*�� �� ��� ������ �� ��� 4	���
�����*1�
�
���2���� �����
���
� �.� ��� �����$� $�	�
� ���	�� ��� �� ��������
����� ��
��������� �����2	����)� ��
� ���� (����2��� ��(��� ��� ��� 2	
*�1� � !���
���(��������������.�"���	��������
���������$���(���������.�������������
��
�	�� !���� ���������� '���*�)� ��
� ��� �.� ��� ��������� $��� �����
���
�
������������$�	�
�2���������
��
1��
�
 "#$%&"'	��!��������(���2�����
1�
�

��2�� !�������,������*��+���
�
!����������������
������(����.�������(��������������.�"���	����)�$�����
����	�����9(���
���	�����*��
�������.��������9������������
������
�
���2���0� ���$�� ��� ���� �

������� ������ ��� ������ $����
� �� �

� �� ���
(��*�����1���
�
���2���� 
���	���
� ��� ������ ��
� .��6	����� �.� �����*�)� ��� ��� ��*�� �.�
2��� ��� ��������� .��� ��	���� ��(���)� ��
� ������ (��(������ �� ��
	��� ���
�	�2��� �.� �����*�� .���� 8� �� :1� � /�� �..����� �

�
� ��� ��� �

����� �� ���
:�.������ �����*�)� ����� $�	�
� 2�� $�� .	����� ��.������ �����*�)� �� $�����
���������2������	�
�����$��� .	�
�����*���� �����������
�
���	��� �����
����*�� ��
� (��.�������)� ��
� ����� �������� 2���.��*�� ��� ����� ��������
�����1��!�������.�����������*����	�
�2�����
�
	���*����
��)���
�����������
����
���(����
�)���
����(��(���
��������*�����.���������*�
	���*��������
���.�����2���51���
�
'	**���
��(����.��������
�����������	
�
;��
�

•� ��$�����������((��	�����<�

•� �������/��5�����.����$��5<�

•� ���������
����������%���)��	�������*���*����	*��(��������<�

•� *������������
�
����������5��*<�

•� ���5����
��������<�

•� ���������
�=�������(����2�����������1�

2



�

���������	�
�������������������������������� ��������

�
/����2����2�����
��������9����*�.��6	������.������*����
�$��5�
�$���)�
��
� (����
�
� ��� .��9�2����� �� ���(��
� �� ������ >� �� $��� ������� �� ������� ��
(�����
������*�������.������������9��������*1��!���������������
����
���� $��� (��� �.� �� 2���
��� ����*�� �� ��
	��� ��� �	�2��� �.� �����*�� ��
�
����2���������������������������'�������)���
�������(��(�����$������	�
����	�2����.�.�����������*�)�2	��������	�������*	����$��5��.����(�����
���	*�� ��.������ 2���.��*�� ��
� $��5��*� *��	(�)� $����� $�	�
� ��� .��� ����� ���
����������������	�2���.����8����������*�1��#���

�
�����.�����(����
���
2�� ��(�������)� ���� ��� .��6	����� ��	�
� 2�� �����$�
� ��
� ������
� ��� ���
.����$��*��	����(�������1� �?���$�����(�����$����������*��.������*����
�������
��� ��	���� ��(����*� ������)� ��
� �(������ ��� �����(� �.�
	(���
�����.����������
�
��1�
�
/� ���2��� $��� ��((�� �� �	((��� ��� (��(����� �� ��
	��� ��� �	�2��� �.�
�����*�)�2	�$���
������	���������������*���������
����	*���..����������
������*���������������	�
�2��������
�$��������.	�
1�
�
!������(��������������.�"���	�������.����
�����������������$�����5������
2�� ���� ���� �����*� ��� ��� ������� '������ �8�� @..����<� ��� ��$� �������� �.�
����������
�/��	������$�	�
�2�� �����*������	���������8���������
�$�	�
�
�5���������������1�
�
 "#$%&"'	��!���
�
A�B� �����(���2�����
<�
�
A�B� �����.�����������*�����������6	���.	�
�����*����2�������*�
�.���

����������.�����2���5<�
�
A�B� ������*�2��(����
�
�(�����������������������.������9������*����

C*��
�*���������0���
��������/��5�������
�5��$��
*��.����$��5<�
�
A:B� ��� ���� ��� �������*� ��� ��.����	�	��� 2�� �

�
� �� ��� �*��
�� .��� ���

��9������*1�
�

��3�� ����$�����1������4����������
�
D��
������������	�
����*���
�
��� �����
����� $��� ��� D����� -��������� A/������ �� ��.�������B� /�� �E38)�
���� ����$��������
�.����$��*��*��
��(	2����������� ��� ��.����������
����
2����������2����������������*��
��$���(����
���
�����	���
)������������
��$��5��*�(������
���������2����.����
����5���(�������.������	���������
�������	�)���
������(�����$�����6	���
�2�.���������9������*��.���������1�
�
/�� �..����� (����
�
� �� 2���.� �	������ �.� �	����� (��(������ �� �����
��� ���

�����2�������
�(�����������.���(���D��
������������	�
)������(�����*�����
�:� D��
��� 2���	*��1� � !��� �������� $��� �� ����������� ��
� �������� ���
(	�������*���
���*�����*�(�$����.�������2���
�(�������.	�
����
���������
�����������.���������
���������$����������
�2������	���)���
����((����
�
��2������2 �������	((���
�2������������.�D��
��1��!$����*���������)����

3



�

����:��� � ���������	�
��������������������������������

D��
��� D��
���0� �������� ��
� ��� '������ �.� D��
��� !����	����� ��
�
�����
���
� ���(��(�����)���
���$��5��*�(������
�2����.����
��������
���
���������?�����	������(������(�����
���5����������
�����1��/���������
�9���������
�2����	�
���5������?����)���
��	��������$���������
�����5��
�9(����������.������������	�����������1�
�
!��� �..����� (����
� �	� ��� ����� $���� $�
�� ���������� ��� (������)�
(��.�������� ��
� $��5.����� (��.����� ����*� D��
��� 2���	*��� ��� ���(��� �.�
����� �������� �	�
�)� ��
� ��� �����	������ ��� �� ���*��� ����� $�	�
� 
�������
�����*�� ��
� �� 2�� ���
� ��
�  	��.��
<� ��� ��� ����� $��� ���	..������ 
��� ��
���.�������1�
�
,����� ��-	���� �.� /��� #�$�� *���� ���� �(������ ��� �� ��	�
� 2�� (����2��� ��
�������� ����� �.� ��� �2 ������� ���	*�� *������ �����2������� ��
�.����$��5�
�*�������)�$���	�������
�.������������*��1�
�
���2����$����	������	�������������$�������#����$����������	�
����	�
�
������ ��� �	�����)� $��� ���� ��������)� ���������� ��
� 
��������� 2���*�

�������
�2��������������	�
����������2���1�����2����$��������������
�� �����
������� �.� �����2������� ��
� .����$��5� �*�������� .��� �(���.��
�
(	�(����)� ��
� ��
� �������� ���
	��
� �	��� ��� �9������� $��� ����
��� ��
(���	��� ��	������ �
����1� � ���2���� $���� ��� (���	�
�
� ��� ��� ���
�
�2 ������� $�	�
� 2�� �������
)� ��� ��� �9(���
� �����*�� 
�������
1��
�	��������)� ���� 2������
� ���� ��
� �� ��*��.	�������*� ��
� �����2�������
�((������ ��� ��� ������ $����� ����
� �� �������� �(�������� �������	�� ���

����������5��*1�
�
!�������������

�
�������?���D��
���?����/	�����)�$������	�2���
�
���������	�������)���
�2����	��2��������������������	�������(�� ����������
�	�2����.������1��#��$������(��������������������	�
����*���(�� ���$���

�����2��� ��� �������2��)� ��
� �9(�������� �	**���
� ��� �� $�	�
� ������ ���
�$��2	���	�����)�$�����$�	�
���*�������2���.�����������*�1�
�
��� �����	����)� ��� ������ �9(�����
� ��� ����*� ��
� 	������	�� �((������� ��
����������$��
�������*����.�D��
������������	�
�)���
��.��	�����(��(�����
��
��	((��)����������$�	�
����5��� ����$�������)���5�����
�
��	�����������
�������*������	��������1�
�
D�*���/�����/*��������"�����%��5��.�'�����
�
�
��� �����
����� $��� ��� D����� -��������� A/������ �� ��.�������B� /�� �E38)�
���� ����$��������
�.����$��*��*��
��(	2����������� ��� ��.����������
����
2����������2����������������*��
��$���(����
���
�����	���
)������������
�����	�������
�2�������.��
�����:���2�	�����������������$�������(������
 ���� �� *��	(� ��*��� ������ �*����� ��� "����� %��5� �.� '�����
� A"%'B1� �!���
D�*��� ��(������ $���� �����$��*� ���� �(���� ��
� ��
� �����
� �..������ ��� ��
��*����6	������������0���((�����������	����*�������1�
�
/���..������9(�����
����2��5*��	�
��������	����0��(������<�����������"%'�
$�������
�2����2�	*��(����� �����2��50��(	�������2�����*�����������
�
.����������.��������.������(	����������	��.����$��*����2����	1��/�*��	(���*���

4



�

���������	�
�������������������������������� ����8���

������ ��
� 2���� (��(���
)� �� 2�� .	�
�
� 2�� ��������
���� ���������� �..���
1��
/
�����.������	������	**���
�����F���������.��	�����1�
�
���2����6	����
���
�
���	���
����.����$��*�(����;�
�

•� �����5���������.���������<�

•� ���(��2�2������.��	�����<�

•� ���6	������.���������.���"%'<�

•� ����������.����(����������
���$�����$�	�
�2���((������
<�

•� ������$���
�������������.�#����$0��D�*�����(�����1�
�
���2���� ��5��$��
*�
� ��� �� ��(�������
� ������ �.� �9(������ $�	�
� 2��
���������� �� ������� ��� ��5������
� �.� �	������ ��� �	��� �� ���(��9� ��
�
��������� ��*�������1��!����$����	��2������*������
�.�������	�����.������)�
������������9(�������������.	����1��!������6	���
��������.�����������
������	�������������
��������
������*��	(������)���
�.	������
��������
���(��2�2����	������.����������1�
�

��5�� "6����
��
(�����,���������,�������
�
 "#$%&"'	� � !��� ��� �����
����� $��� ���� �� �.� '���
	�����/� �� ��� D�����
-���������/���E7�)����(�������
�(	2����2���9��	
�
�.������������*�.���
���.����$��*������.�����������������	�2���$;�
�
���� !����

�
"������

��1� �-������*���'��������
��
�'���*��G(
���
�

��1� ��.��������"�(�����
�������������*���
��������*�
�

��1� ��.��������"�(���>�
���.���������.�.	�
�
����*����.���H	�����
,�
�
���������2��������

��.�������� 	�
��� (���*��(����
A�������� ��.�������� ������*� �� ���
.��������� ��� 2	������� �..����� �.� ����
(����	���� (������A����	
��*� ���
�	���������
��*������.�������B1�
�

�
��7�� '89�!�������#�����
������#��������1��������

�
!����������������
������(����.�������(��������������.�"���	����)�$�����
���� �	� �(����� .��� ��������� ��� �������.��
� -��$�� �	�
�� A�-��B)� ��
�
���5���((������.������������
��������������*�1�
�
/���..������	����
�����(�������
�(��(�������������
�$����������(��)���
�
�9(�����
� ��� 
�..����� (�������� .��� ����*��*� 2�$���� ��� $�� ������
� .	�
�
����*���1�
�
���2����$����*�����������((��$����������������.����$��.	�
�����*���)�
��
� �2�����
� ��� ����� ����*���� ���(������
� ���� ������� $���)� 2	� ����

��(	�
� ��� ��������*�� 	��
� �� 
�����2�� ��� ����� �������� ��
� ����*����

5



�

�������� � ���������	�
��������������������������������

	��
� 2�� ��� .	�
�1� � /� ���2��� �9(�����
� ��� 2���	��� ���2�����(� �.� ���
������ $�	�
� ����*�� ����� ��� �����)� �� $��� ��(����� �� ����� ���	���� ��
�

�����(���� ��������*�� ��� ��
��� ��� ���������� ����9� ��	�
� 2�� 	�
�����
1��
G���*����.	�
�0�.	������������(����$�	�
������.���������*���0������1�
�
���2���� ���
� ��� ��� ������� �*������� ��
� 2���� �� ������ I���� �.� �����

�(����)�2	�����$������$�2���*���5�
����*�������������������.�I3��)�
$��� �� 8�=8�� �(��� 2�$���� ��� $�� ������
� .	�
� ����*���1� � /� ���*���

���	������.����$�
)�
	���*�$��������2����
�2��
����.����$��*;�
�

•� �����	�����
����	�����.����������
�.	�
�<�

•� ����������	����2��������
<�

•� ����(����.����������2�$�������������
�.	�
�����*���<�

•� ��� ��	���� �.� .	�
�� .��� ��������)� �.� �� .�*	��� ���*��� ���� I���� $����
�*���
1�

�
!������(��������������.�"���	��������
���������������
������������
��(��� ��
� 2���� (��(���
� 2�� �..������ .����$��*� ��� (����������� 2�� .	�
�
����*���� ��
� �����
������� �.� ���� ��� ��.�������� ������2��1� � �� $��� .���
���2�������*���)�����
������.	��������������
�����)�2	�����������
�
����� �� ��� ������ .��� 
�������� ��� ����� ���������)� ��
� �� 
�������� $���
���������1�
�
/� ���2��� �2�����
� ��� �.� ��� ����*�� $��� ������)� ��
� �..���
� ���
����(�2���2�������2�$������	�����
����5�������	�����������������������)�
���� �� ��*���� .�*	��� .��� ��������� $��� 
�����2��1� � /������ ���2��� 	�*�
�
��	���)� ����*� (�����	�� ���������� $����� ��
� ��� 
�������
� ��� �9(���
�
��	���1�
�
���2�����*���
����

����� ���(����� ��� 	��)���
������*����
����������.�
���)���$���
�
 "#$%&"'	��!����
�
A�B� ��F��.����.	�
�2��������
�������������
�.	�
�����*����A8F������

��'��
��
�D�.����
�%����*�B<�
�
A�B� ��� ��$� ����*���� 2�� .	�
�
�.���� ������2��� ����� ��
� ��� 2������� ��

2��$��
��$��.���������
��������
��<�
�
A�B� ���������
�����*��������$�����/((��
�9����.������(���2���((����
�

�	2 �������.�����*������$�����F��������������-�����
���<�
�
A:B� ����6	������
����2�������$�
��������9������*<�
�
A8B� ��� ���������� .�9�
� ������� (��
	��� ������2��� .���� %���5"��5� 2���

�����$�
����������
��<�
�
A�B� �	������ 2�� 
���*��
� �� ��� '������ �8�� @..����� A��� 
�(	�B� �� ��*��

���� 
��	�������� ��6	���
� �� ���(���� ��� �((������� �.� ���
������
��-������*���1�

6



�

���������	�
�������������������������������� ����7���

�
����� )�(
�����
�� ��
�����)����������!�������!
���
�������

�
!��� ������ �������
� /��� #�$�0�� 6	������� ��(��� ��� #����$0�� �	�
�
����*���)�
������*�����*�����
�$��5���������
�������������*�)���
����
�
����������*���������
�	�����*�
�.�������4��	������(��1�
�
 "#$%&"'	��!��������(���2�����
1�
�

����� )�(
�����
�� ��
��� ��,��(
�������
(�9����!��������(
��-�������"�����
*��'���������������
�
!����������������
�����(���$���������	����(��.���������.�������������
����*������
��.�������������	�
�.������6	����)��������
��������������
��*�
��������2�������1�
�
 "#$%&"'	��!��������(���2�����
1�
�

����� /��������
��
(�����!���������
�
��� �����
����� $��� ��� (���������� �.� �������� �����
	��� "	����:� A����:%�
�.���������	���B���$���
�
 "#$%&"'	��/�E188�(���������	��	������1�8�(�1�
�
A+��;��!��������*)������*���������
����1:8���)������
�����1���(�B1�
�
�
�
�
�
A'�*��
B��@G+��DD@"��,�!#��,""J�
���������
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

7



8

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Pension Fund Committee 

Date of Meeting: 

 

25th June 2013 

Subject: 

 

Pension Implication of Service Outsourcing 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Simon George, Director of Finance and 
Assurance 

Exempt: 

 

No 

 

Enclosures: 

                                  

 
None 

 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

 
Members have requested an opportunity to discuss the pension implication of 
the proposed libraries outsourcing, for which part of the risks relating to past 
service liability and assets will be retained by the Council to optimise the overall 
commercial arrangements. 
 

Recommendation:  

The Panel is invited to discuss the proposed pension arrangements and note 
the intention to review the admission policy to ensure that the financial risk to 
the Fund and its employers are appropriately identified and managed. 
 

Agenda Item 8
Pages 9 to 14

9



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\0\0\AI00083008\$zw13x5cn.doc 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. This item has been included at the request of members, who wish an 

opportunity to discuss the pension implications of the outsourcing of the 
libraries contract.  Gemma Sefton, from Hymans Robertson will be attending 
the meeting. 

  
2. The norm on a service outsourcing that involves the transfer of Harrow staff 

is for the new employer to request admitted body status in the scheme.  
Harrow Council cannot object provided the new employer abides by the 
regulations and agrees reasonable terms. 

 
3. To date, the standard practice has been that the value of the past service 

liability for the transferred staff is calculated and allocated to the new 
employer together with an equal allocation of assets, such that any deficit is 
retained by the existing employer, e.g. Harrow Council.  The Actuary then 
calculates an initial contribution rate based on the ongoing cost of providing 
new benefits.  The new employer is subject to changes in contribution rates 
(up or down) at each tri-annual valuation, including due to changes in the 
value of past service liabilities and assets. 

 
4. It should not be read that transferring matching assets and liabilities will 

mean future contribution increases.  The change in a valuation position will 
reflect all experience in the inter-valuation period. Changes in the financial 
assumptions used, salary experience, ill health retirements, mortality 
experience will all impact on the balance sheet and resulting required 
employer contributions.  For example, if bond yields were to increase from 
current levels, the value of the liabilities would reduce and all else being 
equal may result in a contribution reduction.   

 
5. The standard treatment on outsourcing is not mandatory and can be varied 

by the Council. 
 
6. The ongoing libraries outsourcing involves 109 employees with a past 

service liability of £6.2 million.  The initial standalone contribution rate 
determined by the Actuary is 25.3% (approximately £0.4 million p.a.), 
considerably higher than the 19.35% currently paid by the Council, such that 
the pension fund will receive higher contributions as a result of the out-
sourcing, to reflect the calculated cost of new benefit accrual for the 
transferring members being higher than the stabilised contribution rate 
currently being paid by the Council.   

 
7. The initial contributions rate payable by the new employer will be reviewed 

at each valuation in light of: 
 

a) Changes in the cost of providing future benefits, 
b) Actuarial gains and losses on assets and liabilities acquired post the 

date of transfer of employment, and 
c) Any action taken by the employer than impacts on pre transfer 

benefit liabilities e.g. salary increases or ill-health retirements that 
differ from those assumed. 

 

10



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\0\0\AI00083008\$zw13x5cn.doc 

8. One aspect of the libraries outsourcing that differs from ‘standard’ practice is 
that the Council will retain some of the pension risks relating to the historic 
liabilities and assets as at the date of transfer.  In particular, those risks that 
are not controllable by the new employer e.g. investment performance, 
discount rates, longevity, changes in inflation etc will remain with the 
Council. This decision has been made on commercial grounds to encourage 
a competitive bidding process and eliminate uncertainties that appeared 
likely to cause pricing adjustments that were excessive in relation to the 
risks being transferred. 

 
9. The impact of the Council retaining part of the risk relating to the historic 

liabilities has in this instance not been reflected within the new employer’s 
initial contribution rate.  It has been known for an additional contribution 
charge to be levied in these circumstances, but as additional costs will 
impact on the contract cost, it has not considered appropriate. 

 
10. At the point of the outsourcing the deficit remains with the Council.  A 

successful outsourcing will reduce the costs of providing the services and as 
the Council’s revenue is unaffected will have a positive financial impact for 
the Council.  Of course if future actuarial outcomes are worse than 
expected, then a greater burden will fall on the Council due to retaining 
some of the pension risks, but this is the same position as retaining the staff 
in-house and forgoing the outsourcing savings. 

 
11. The Committee should note that if significant outsourcings were to occur, 

the Fund may require additional contributions if contributions continue to be 
expressed as a percentage of pay.  As the deficit is unchanged, that deficit 
still needs to be repaid, but as it is spread over a reduced payroll it may 
mean a higher “rate” is required to ensure that the monetary value of deficit 
contributions is maintained.  Therefore, the pensions saving from an 
outsourcing cannot be assumed to be the rate currently in payment times 
the outsourced payroll. 

 
12. Risk sharing arrangements such as these usually operate outside of the 

Fund.  This means that at each valuation the Fund continues to calculate 
the balance sheet of and contribution rate required from, the Employer, 
regardless of the risk sharing that is in place.   It is that certified contribution 
that the Fund needs to receive from the Employer.   Thereafter, there would 
be an additional calculation to figure out how the contribution rate is split 
between the Council and the Employer.  The Council would then either pay 
more to the Employer so that it can meet its obligations to the Fund if the 
required contribution is higher than that priced in the contract or the price of 
the contract would be reduced if the required contribution is less than that 
allowed for the original pricing.  

 
13. Comparison has been made with the policy adopted for academies, in which 

a proportion of the past service deficit was transferred to the academies.  
This treatment was different because the Council’s funding was reduced as 
part of the move to academy status and the Council has fewer resources to 
fund the associated deficit.  This is not the case with the libraries out-
sourcing. 

 

11



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\0\0\AI00083008\$zw13x5cn.doc 

14. The growth in the level of outsourcing and increase in the number of 
admitted employers has required more time to be devoted to similar pension 
issues.  Some employers are large and sophisticated and understand the 
pension issues, while others have little understanding and seek simpler 
solutions to providing pension provision.  It is proposed to consider a range 
of tailored solutions that might be applied to different circumstances while 
protecting the fund and the Council.  These proposals will be discussed with 
the Committee prior to implementation. 

 
15. One final consideration is that the methodology for recovering deficits may 

have to change if Harrow’s work force continues to shrink, from a 
percentage of salary to a defined monetary sum.  This need not change the 
value of the deficit contribution but will protect the fund against receiving 
lower contributions.  This is an approach that perhaps should be considered 
for all Fund employers as part of the 2013 valuation.  At a minimum the 
value of deficit contributions being paid should be monitored. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
16. The impact on the Council from the libraries outsourcing arises both from 

the commercial aspects of providing services and the impact on the pension 
fund.  The Pension Fund Committee will wish to ensure that the fund is not 
adversely impacted 

 
Risk Management Implications 
 
17. Risk included on Directorate risk register?  No   
 
18. Separate risk register in place?  No 
 
19. Setting risk tolerances and measuring outcomes is central to the strategy. 
 
Equalities implications 
 
20. Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out?  Yes  
  
21. There are no direct equalities implications relating to the pension fund. 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
22. Corporate Priorities are not applicable to the Pension Fund as it does not 

have a direct impact on Council resources. 
 
Legal Implications 

23. The report has been reviewed by Legal Department and comments received 
are incorporated into the report. 

12



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\0\0\AI00083008\$zw13x5cn.doc 

  

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
    

 

Name: Simon George   √  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date: 11 June 2013 

   

Name: Matthew Adams √  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 11 June 2013 

   
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
Contact:  Linda D’Souza (Shared Services Manager) and George Bruce 

(Treasury and Pension Fund Manager)   Tel: 020-8424-1170 / Email: 
george.bruce@harrow.gov.uk  

 
Background Papers:  [None]. 
 
If appropriate, does the report include the following considerations?  
 
1. Consultation  N/A 
2. Corporate Priorities N/A 
 

 
 
 

13



14

This page is intentionally left blank



 

C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\2\0\AI00083021\$q5kb0za0.doc 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Pension Fund Committee 

 

Date of Meeting: 

 

25th June 2013 

Subject: 

 

INFORMATION REPORT – 

Presentation by WM 

 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Simon George, Director or Finance and 
Assurance 

Exempt: 

 

No. 
 

Enclosures: 

 

WM Report 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary 
 
 
The Committee is requested to receive the presentation and to ask questions 
relating to the performance of the investment portfolio in the period to 31st March 
2013. 
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 
 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. Lynn Coventry from WM / State Street will be attending the meeting to 

provide a presentation to the Panel on the fund’s performance over 1, 3 
and 5 years comparing returns with the benchmarks set by the Panel and 
with the returns of other local authority funds.  It should be noted that 
comparisons with other pension funds tend to reflect the strategies 
adopted by individual schemes more than the success in implementing 
scheme strategies. 

 
2. A summary of the most up to date returns are given within the 

performance and valuation agenda item. 

 

Section 3 – Further information 
 
3. N/A 

Agenda Item 9
Pages 15 to 16

15



 

Section 4 - Financial Implications 
 
4. N/A. 
 

Section 5 - Risk Management Implications 
 
5. Risk included on Directorate risk register?  No 
 
6. Separate risk register in place?  No 
 

Section 6 - Equalities implications 
 
7. Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out?  Yes 
 
8. There are no direct equalities implications relating to the pension fund. 
 

Section 7 - Corporate Priorities 
 
9. Corporate Priorities are not applicable to Pension Fund as it does not have 

a direct impact on Council’s resources. 
 

 
 

   
 

Name: Simon George    √  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date: 10 June 2013 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Matthew Adams √  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 10 June 2013 

   
 

 

Section 6 - Contact Details / Background Papers 
 
Contact:  George Bruce (Treasury and Pension Fund Manager))   Tel: 020-

8424-1170 /  Email: george.bruce@harrow.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers:  None 
 

16



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Pension Fund Committee 

Date of Meeting: 

 

25th June 2013 

Subject: 

 

Review of the Statement of Investment 
Principles 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Simon George, Director of Finance and 
Assurance 
 

Exempt: 

 

No 

 

Enclosures: 

 

 
Statement of Investment Principles. 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 
 
A revised Statement of Investment Principles (“SIP”) is presented here to 
approval following changes in the Investment Strategy agreed in March 2013.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
The Committee is asked to approve the updated Statement of Investment 
Principles.  
 

Agenda Item 10
Pages 17 to 30

17



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\2\2\0\AI00083022\$1s1fufus.doc 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. A Statement of Investment Principles (“SIP”) is required by the Local 

Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2009 (“The Regulations”) and outlines the 
principles and policies followed by the Committee in the management of 
the Fund’s investments. 

 
2. A revised SIP is necessary following a change in the Investment Strategy 

at the Pension Fund Committee meeting on 6th March 2013:  The changes 
made have been restricted to those required to reflect the revised strategy 
and the new Committee title are highlighted below:  

 
• Paragraph 1.3, has been amended to replace ‘Investment Panel’ with 

‘Committee’ in four instances. 
 
• Paragraph 3.1 has been amended to include: “Pension Fund Committee 

meeting on 6th March 2013, at which it was decided to invest 10% of the 
Fund in two multi-asset mandates amounting to £27 million in each of 
Barings and Standard Life. This was funded by a reduction in equities 
together with the use of cash.”  In addition the asset allocation table has 
been updated to reflect the new investments. 

 
• Paragraph 3.4 has been amended to read: “Cash balances are held in 

Pension Fund bank accounts” 
 
• Paragraph 6.3 has been amended from “80%” to “70%” 
 
• Paragraph 6.5 has been amended to include “The Council monitors 

liabilities using quarterly funding estimates from the Actuary together with 
a…” 

 
3. These amendments are incorporated into the attached SIP, which the 

Committee is invited to approve.  The revised SIP will be sent to all fund 
employers and investment managers and a copy will be available to 
scheme members via the Council’s web site  

 
4. The SIP complies with relevant regulations and it is recommended that it is 

reviewed annually to ensure that it continues to reflect the Committees 
investment strategy. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
5. The SIP addresses the high level risk and return objectives of the Fund. 
 
Risk Management Implications 
 
6. Risk included on Directorate risk register?  No   
 
7. Separate risk register in place?  No 
 

18



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\2\2\0\AI00083022\$1s1fufus.doc 

8. Setting risk tolerances and measuring outcomes are central to the 
management of contribution volatility. 

 
Equalities implications 
 
9. Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out?  Yes  
 
10. There are no direct equalities implications relating to the pension fund. 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
11. Corporate Priorities are not applicable to the Pension Fund as it does not 

have a direct impact on Council’s resources. 
  

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 
 
 

   
 

Name: Simon George √  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date: 10 June 2013 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Matthew Adams √  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date:  10 June 2013 

   
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
Contact:  George Bruce (Treasury and Pension Fund Manager)   Tel: 020-

8424-1170 / Email: george.bruce@harrow.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers:  None 
 
If appropriate, does the report include the following 
considerations?  
 
1. Consultation  N/A 
2. Corporate Priorities N/A 
 

19



20

This page is intentionally left blank



 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        

LONDON BOROUGH OF HARROW 
PENSION FUND 

 

 

 

 

STATEMENT OF 

INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

21



 3 

           

 
LONDON BOROUGH OF HARROW PENSION FUND  
 
STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT PRINCIPLES 
 
 
CONTENTS 
 
PAGE  

 
2 Introduction  
2 Investment Objectives 

2-3 Investment Style and Structure 
4 Performance 
4 Types of investments  
4 Investment Risk 

     5 The realisation of investments 
5 Investment advice 
5 Social, Environmental and Ethical considerations 
6 Exercise of Rights including voting right 

6 Myners investment principles 
6 Additional Voluntary Contributions 
6 Compliance including monitoring and review arrangements 

  
This Statement of Investment Principles has been prepared in 
consultation with the Fund’s investment managers and investment 
advisor.  Fund members and other employing authorities will be 
given the opportunity to comment on the Statement and the Council 
will consider their views. 

  
Appendix 1 Myners Principles 

  
Approved by Harrow Council: 

 
Date   June 2013 

 
 

22



 

 2  

 Introduction 
 

1.1  This is the Statement of Investment Principles (SIP) adopted by Harrow Council (the 
Council) in relation to the investment of assets of the Council’s Pension Fund (the Fund). 
The Council is the Administering Authority of the Fund and, in that role it has responsibility 
to ensure the proper management of the Fund. 

 
1.2  This SIP meets the requirements of The Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 (“The Regulations”) and has 
been prepared after taking appropriate advice. 

 
1.3  The Council, as administering authority, decides on the investment policies most suitable 

to meet the liabilities of the Pension Fund and has ultimate responsibility for investment 
strategy. These powers are exercised on its behalf by the Council’s Pension Fund 
Committee. The Committee monitors investments, including manager performance, on a 
quarterly basis. Advice is received as required from the officers and the professional 
advisers. In addition, the Committee requires managers to periodically attend its meeting. 
The Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with guidance given by the 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government.  No exceptions have been 
identified. 

 
1.4 The Council has delegated the management of the Fund’s investments to professional 

investment managers, appointed in accordance with the LGPS regulations, whose 
activities are specified in either detailed investment management agreements or 
subscription agreements and regularly monitored.  The Board is satisfied that the 
appointed fund managers have sufficient expertise and experience to carry out their role 

 
1.5  The LGPS is established by statute. The Pension Fund is a legally distinct entity with 

contributions made by employees (fixed percentage of earnings) and employers. The 
primary objective of the Fund is to maximise performance and so minimise the level of 
employer contributions in order to meet the cost of pension benefits as required by statute. 
A related objective is to minimise the volatility of employer contribution rates as investment 
returns vary from year to year. 

 
  Investment Objectives 
 
2.1  The investment objective of the Fund is to achieve a return that is sufficient to meet the 

primary funding objective as set out above, subject to an appropriate level of risk (implicit 
in the target) and liquidity. Over the long-term, it is expected that the Fund’s investment 
returns will be at least in line with the assumptions underlying the actuarial valuation. 

 
Investment style 

 
3.1 It is the Council’s current policy that external fund managers are employed to administer 

the Fund’s assets. The current structure as set out in the table below was implemented 
following the Pension Fund Committee meeting on 6th March 2013, at which it was decided 
to invest 10% of the Fund in two multi-asset mandates amounting to £27 million in each of 
Barings and Standard Life. This was funded by a reduction in equities together with the 

23



 

 3 

use of cash. The assets of the fund are mostly in “growth assets” i.e. those expected to 
generate additional (‘excess’) returns over the long term. These include equity, and private 
equity.  The asset allocation also has a small allocation to “cash flow matching” assets, 
mainly index linked bonds.  Corporate bonds, property and alternatives provide both 
diversification and expected returns in excess of liabilities. 

 
The table below shows the asset allocation structure.  
 
Asset Class Allocation Range Approach 

UK Equities 26%   Passive 

36% 

  

  

Overseas 
Equities 

  

  Active Global Strategy 

Total Equities 62% 57-67%   

13% 

  

Active Sterling aggregate benchmark 
plus gilts 

Corporate bonds 10.4%   

Bonds 

Index Linked gilts 2.6% 

11-15% 

  

Alternatives:- 10% 8-12%   

Property 10% 8-12% Active Management 

Private Equity 5% N/A Active Management 

     

Total 100%     

 
 

 
  

3.2 The above allocations, ranges and the management structure comply with the limits set 
out in table 1 of The Regulations with the exception that the limit on single insurance 
contracts has been increased from 25% to the upper limit of 35% to permit investment in a 
passive UK equity portfolio.  This decision will apply until the completion of the next 
strategic review or if earlier 31st March 2016.  The decision to increase the limit complies 
with The Regulations. 

 
3.3 The investment style is to appoint fund managers with clear performance benchmarks and 

place maximum accountability for performance against that benchmark with the 
investment manager. Multiple fund managers are appointed to give diversification of 
investment style and spread of risk. The fund managers appointed are mainly remunerated 
through fees based on the value of assets under management, although remuneration 
through fees based on commitments and also performance related fees are also in place. 

 

24



 

 4 

3.3 The investment strategy is reviewed periodically, with a major review taking place following 
each triennial actuarial review. 

 
3.4 Cash balances are held in Pension Fund bank accounts.   
 
3.5 Actual asset allocations are monitored against the above structure and rebalanced as 

appropriate.  The Section 151 officer has delegated authority to undertake a quarterly 
rebalancing of the equity and bond portfolios should they breach the above ranges.  
Rebalancing within the bond portfolio is delegated to the fund manager. 

 
3.6 Where appropriate, custodians are appointed to provide trade settlement and processing 

and related services.  Where investments are held through funds, the fund appoints its 
own custodian. 

 
3.7 A currency hedge equal to 50% on the non sterling equity exposure is maintained. 
 
3.8 The Council does not engage in stock lending activities. 
 

Performance 
 

4.1 Performance targets are set on a three-year rolling basis in relation to the benchmark.  
The investment managers’ performance is reviewed at quarterly and annual intervals by 
the WM Company who provides independent performance statistics.  

 
Types of investments 

 
5.1 A management agreement is in place for each fund manager, setting out, where relevant, 

the benchmark, performance target and asset allocation ranges. The agreements also set 

out any statutory or other restrictions determined by the Council. Investment may be made 

in accordance with the Regulations in equities, fixed interest and other bonds and 

property, in the UK and overseas markets.  The Regulations specify other investment 

instruments that may be used, for example, financial futures, traded options, insurance 

contracts, stock lending, sub-underwriting contracts. 

 
5.2 The Regulations also specify certain limitations on investments.  Principally, these place a 

limit of 10% of the whole fund in any single holding, or deposits with a single bank or 
institution, or investments in unlisted securities. The Council does however have discretion 
to adopt a higher statutory limit in respect of specific investments subject to formal 
agreement by the Council. 

 
Investment Risk 

 
6.1 Whilst the objective of the Council is to maximise the return on its investments, it 

recognises that this has to be within certain risk parameters and that no investment is 
without an element of risk. The Council acknowledges that the predominantly equity based 
investment strategy may entail risk to contribution stability, particularly due to the short 
term volatility that equity investments can involve. The longer term nature of the fund and 
the expected higher longer term returns expected of equity investments over bonds mean, 
however, that a high equity allocation remains an appropriate strategy for the Fund.  Total 

25



 

 5 

risk arising from the investment strategy and its implementation is monitored as part of the 
tri-annual strategy review.  Control ranges have been set to aid the monitoring of return 
and risk targets. 

 
6.2 A policy of diversification for its investments and investment managers helps the Council 

to mitigate overall risk.  Benchmarks and targets against which investment managers are 
expected to perform are further measures put in place to manage the risks for the fund.   
Manager performance is monitored quarterly with investigation of any significant 
deviations from intended strategy.   

 
6.3 The fund has a positive cash flow that enables investment in illiquid asset class’s e.g. 

private equity and property.  More than 70% of the fund is invested in equities and bonds 
that are highly liquid. 

 
6.4 The Council has established a currency hedge covering 50% of the global equity portfolio 

to dampen the effect of foreign currency fluctuations against sterling.  
 
6.5 Demographic factors including the uncertainty around longevity / mortality projections (e.g. 

longer life expectancies) contribute to funding risk. There are limited options currently 
available to fully mitigate or hedge this risk.  The Council monitors liabilities using quarterly 
funding estimates from the Actuary together with a specialist service (Club Vita) which 
provides a comprehensive analysis of the Fund’s longevity data to enable them to 
understand and manage this issue in the most effective way.   

 
  The realisation of investments 
 
7.1  A realisable (liquid) investment is one that can be readily converted into cash, for example 

to satisfy payments out of the Fund.  The majority of the Fund’s assets are highly liquid 
and the Council is satisfied that the Fund has sufficient liquid assets to meet all expected 
and unexpected demands for cash.  Assets in the Fund that are considered to be illiquid 
include property and private equity. As a long term investor the Council considers it 
prudent to include illiquid assets in its strategic asset allocation in order to benefit from the 
additional diversification and extra return this should provide. 

 
7.2 The Council has delegated to the fund managers responsibility for the selection, retention 

and realisation of assets. 
 
 Investment advice 
 
8.1 Professional advice on investment matters is taken from the investment practice of Aon 

Hewitt.  Hymans Robertson provide actuarial services. 
   

Social, environmental or ethical  
 
9.1  The extent to which social, environmental and ethical considerations are taken into 

account in these decisions is left to the discretion of the fund managers. However, the 
Council expects that the extent to which social, environmental and ethical issues may 
have a financial impact on the portfolio will be taken into account by the fund managers in 
the exercise of their delegated duties. The Council expects the fund managers to positively 

26



 

 6 

engage and seek to influence companies in which the Fund invests to take account of key 
social, environmental and ethical considerations. 

 
 Exercise of the rights (including voting rights) attaching to investments 

  
10.1  The Council is an active shareholder and will exercise its rights (including voting rights) to 

promote and support good corporate governance principles which in turn will feed through 
into good investment performance.  

 
10.2 In practice, the Fund’s equity holdings are wholly invested through pooled funds in which 

voting and engagement decisions are made by the fund manager.  The Council 
encourages its fund managers to vote and engage with investee companies worldwide to 
ensure they comply with best practice in corporate governance in each locality.  The fund 
managers provide reports on their voting and engagement activities. 

 
 Myners 
 
11.1 The Myners principals codify best practice in investment decision-making. While they are 

voluntary, pension fund trustees are expected to consider their applicability to their own 
fund and report on a ‘comply or explain’ basis how they used them. The Regulations 
require administering authorities to publish in their Statement of Investment Principles the 
extent to which they comply with the six new investment principles set out in the Myners 
report on Institutional Investment. The principles and best practice guidance are attached 
in Appendix 1. 
 

11.2 The Council do broadly comply with the principles but will continue to examine the 
requirements of the Myners principles with a view to ensuring greater compliance.  Any 
changes will be reflected in updated versions of the Statement of Investment Principles 

  
Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVC)  

 
12.1 In line with statute, the Council has to appoint AVC providers and the current providers 

are Clerical Medical and Prudential. 
 

Compliance 
 
13.1 The Council is responsible for monitoring the Fund’s overall investment performance 

and the performance of each manager. 
 
13.2 The Council is responsible for monitoring the qualitative performance of the fund 

managers to ensure that they remain suitable for the Fund.  These qualitative aspects 
include changes in ownership, changes in personnel, and investment administration. 

 
13.3 The Council will regularly review the Scheme’s compliance with this Statement of 

Investment Principles.  The Statement is reviewed at least every three years and in 
addition a revised version is issued in the event of significant change occurring. 

27



 

 7 

 
Appendix 1 

Myners Principles: 
Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 

 
1. Effective decision-making 
 
Trustees should ensure that decisions are taken by persons or organisations with the skills, 
knowledge, advice and resources necessary to take them effectively and monitor their 
implementation. 
 
Trustees should have sufficient expertise to be able to evaluate and challenge the advice they 
receive, and manage conflicts of interest. 
 
Best Principle Guidance 
 
• The board has appropriate skills for, and is run in a way that facilitates, effective decision 
making. 
 
• There are sufficient internal resources and access to external resources for trustees and boards 
to make effective decisions. 
 
• It is good practice to have an investment sub-committee, to provide the appropriate focus and 
skills on investment decision-making. 
 
• There is an investment business plan and progress is regularly evaluated. [(Not as such, 
although an annual plan of issues for discussion is maintained]. 
 
• Consider remuneration of trustees. [Additional remuneration for membership of the Committee 
is not required]. 
 
• Pay particular attention to managing and contracting with external advisers (including advice on 
strategic asset allocation, investment management and actuarial issues). 
 
  
 
2 Clear objectives 
 
Trustees should set out an overall investment objective(s) for the fund that takes account of the 
scheme’s liabilities, the strength of the sponsor covenant and the attitude to risk of both the 
trustees and the sponsor, and clearly communicate these to advisers and investment managers.  
 
Best Practice Guidance 
 
• Benchmarks and objectives are in place for the funding and investment of the scheme. 
 
• Fund managers have clear written mandates covering scheme expectations, which include 
clear time horizons for performance measurement and evaluation. 
 

28



 

 8 

• Trustees consider as appropriate, given the size of fund, a range of asset classes, active or 
passive management styles and the impact of investment management costs when formulating 
objectives and mandates. 
 
• Consider the strength of the sponsor covenant. 
  
 
3 Risks and Liabilities 

 
In setting and reviewing their investment strategy, trustees should take account of the form and 
structure of liabilities. These include the strength of the sponsor covenant, the risk of sponsor 
default and longevity risk. 
 
Best Practice Guidance 
 
• Trustees have a clear policy on willingness to accept underperformance due to market 
conditions. 
 
• Trustees take into account the risks associated with their liabilities’ valuation and management. 
 
• Trustees analyse factors affecting long-term performance and receive advice on how these 
impact on the scheme and its liabilities. 
 
• Trustees have a legal requirement to establish and operate internal controls. 
 
• Trustees consider whether the investment strategy is consistent with the scheme sponsor’s 
objectives and ability to pay. 
 
 
4 Performance Assessment 

Trustees should arrange for the formal measurement of the performance of investments, 
investment mangers and advisors. Trustees should also periodically make a formal policy 
assessment of their own effectiveness as a decision-making body and report on this to scheme 
members. 
 
Best Practice Guidance 
 
• There is a formal policy and process for assessing individual performance of trustees and 
managers. [Formal performance assessments are limited to fund managers]. 
 
• Trustees can demonstrate an effective contribution and commitment to the role (for example 
measured by participation at meetings). 
 
• The chairman addresses the results of the performance evaluation. 
 
• State how performance evaluations have been conducted. 
 
• When selecting external advisers take into account relevant factors, including past performance 
and price. 

29



 

 9 

 

 
5 Responsible Ownership 

 

Trustees should adopt, or ensure their investment managers adopt, the Institutional 
Shareholders’ Committee (ISC) Statement of Principles on the responsibilities of shareholders 
and agents.  
A statement of the scheme’s policy on responsible ownership should be included in the 
Statement of Investment Principles. 
 Trustees should report periodically to members on the discharge of such responsibilities. 
 
Best Practice Guidance 
 
• Policies regarding responsible ownership are disclosed to scheme members in the annual 
report and accounts or in the Statement of Investment Principles. 
 
• Trustees consider the potential for engagement to add value when formulating investment 
strategy and selecting investment managers. 
 
• Trustees ensure that investment managers have an explicit strategy, setting out the 
circumstances in which they will intervene in a company. 
 
• Trustees ensure that Investment consultants adopt the ISC’s Statement of Practice relating to 
consultants. 

 
6 Transparency and Reporting 
 
Trustees should act in a transparent manner, communicating with stakeholders on issues relating 
to their management of investment, its governance and risks, including performance against 
stated objectives. 
Trustees should provide regular communication to members in the form they consider most 
appropriate. 
 
Best Practice Guidance: 
 

• Reporting ensures that the scheme operates transparently and enhances accountability to 
scheme members and best practice provides a basis for the continuing improvement of 
governance standards. 

 

 

 

 

30



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Pension Fund Committee 

Date of Meeting: 

 

25th June 2013 

Subject: 

 

Equity Training and Beliefs 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Simon George, Director of Finance and 
Assurance 

Exempt: 

 

No. 

 

Enclosures: 

                                  

 
.Aon Hewitt training material 

 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

 
With the completion of the strategic asset allocation review, this paper focuses on 
the equity component and discusses the options for structuring an equity 
portfolio.  The purpose is to agree a basis for further training and the 
development of more precise proposals that reflect the Committee’s views. 
 

Recommendation:  

None.  The Committee views will be noted and used to develop future training 
and detailed proposals. 
 

Agenda Item 11
Pages 31 to 74

31



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\0\0\AI00083009\$4nrah0v5.doc 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. With the completion of the strategic asset allocation review it is appropriate 

to consider the structure and composition of each asset class to ensure that 
the fund is achieving the best balance of return and risk and to test whether 
the assets are being managed in accordance with the Committee’s 
investment beliefs.  Listed equities represent 62% of the strategy and are a 
good place to start this process. 

 
2. Currently, the portfolio is managed by 4 fund managers, with 42% UK 

passive (1 manager) and 58% global active (3 managers). The current 
arrangements were put in place in 2009. 

 
3. The attached paper from Aon Hewitt considers the current structure and the 

factors that should be considered when structuring an equity portfolio. The 
paper is not intended to offer solutions but to facilitate a debate on the 
beliefs, assumptions and forecasts that should influence the equity portfolio 
construction.  In doing so, we can test whether the current structure chimes 
with the Committees beliefs and expectations and represents the optimum 
way to manage equities. 

 
4. The factors that the Committee will be asked to consider when going 

through the training material include: 
 

a) Geographic allocations 
 

• The rationale for a specific UK equity allocation given that currency 
risks can be managed with hedges.  With most UK equity earnings 
deriving from overseas and UK equity returns expected to trail 
overseas equities, they don’t appear to be a better match for our 
pension fund liabilities. 

• The UK represents around 10% of the global equity market, yet the 
current allocation is 42%. 

• Emerging markets generate most economic growth and represent 
most of the global population, but little more than 10% of the stock 
market indices.  Do expectations of wealth rebalancing justify a 
higher / explicit allocation to emerging markets? 

 
b) Active / passive 

 
• Do active managers exist who can reliability add value after costs? 
• In all or only some markets? 
• If so, can the Committee identify and monitor these relationships?  

Evidence from WM has been that active management does not on 
average deliver superior returns to LGPS. 

• Are others better placed to identify and monitor active managers on 
our behalf e.g. delegated manager selection? 

• Are alternatives to market capitalisation based indices a basis for 
passive management?  Although historic performance of alternative 
indexation is superior to traditional passive, the reasons are often 
unclear and the ability to predict future returns uncertain. 

 

32



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\0\0\AI00083009\$4nrah0v5.doc 

c) Mandate structure 
 

• Which styles of active management work best e.g. low risk highly 
diversified core through to concentrated / benchmark unconstrained 
portfolios? 

 
5. At this stage, the Committee’s views on the questions / options raised are 

sought.  In some cases, more training will be required before any decisions 
can be made e.g. alternative passive benchmarks. Hopefully, the Committee 
will at least talk through the framework on page 19 of the Aon report. The 
views of the Committee will be used to develop more precise proposals and 
training for the September meeting. Suggested topics for future training 
topics include: 

 
• Alternative passive methodologies 
• The case for a targeted emerging market exposure 
• Fiduciary / delegated management 

 
Financial Implications 
 
6. The equity structure will have a significant impact on ability to meet and 

exceed the returns required to restore full funding. 
 
Risk Management Implications 
 
7. Risk included on Directorate risk register?  No   
 
8. Separate risk register in place?  No 
 
9. Setting risk tolerances and measuring outcomes is central to the strategy. 
 
Equalities implications 
 
10. Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out?  Yes  
  
11. There are no direct equalities implications relating to the pension fund. 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
12. Corporate Priorities are not applicable to the Pension Fund as it does not 

have a direct impact on Council resources. 
 
Legal Implications 

13. The report has been reviewed by Legal Department and comments received 
are incorporated into the report. 

  

33



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\0\0\AI00083009\$4nrah0v5.doc 

 

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
    

 

Name: Simon George   √  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date: 10 June 2013 

   

Name: Matthew Adams √  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 10 June  2013 

   
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
Contact:  George Bruce (Treasury and Pension Fund Manager)   Tel: 020-

8424-1170 / Email: george.bruce@harrow.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers:  Papers and training material relating to 
investment strategy provided to the PFIP meetings on 8 January 
2013 and at various meetings in 2011 and 2012. 
 
If appropriate, does the report include the following considerations?  
 
1. Consultation  N/A 
2. Corporate Priorities N/A 
 

 

34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



������������� ��������

46



47



48



49



50



51



����

����

����

����

����

����

����

����

����

����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

�����

������ ������������ ������

52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Pension Fund Committee 

Date of Meeting: 

 

25th June 2013 

Subject: 

 

Infrastructure and Local Investing 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Simon George, Director of Finance and 
Assurance 

Exempt: 

 

No 

 

Enclosures: 

                                  

 
.Aon Hewitt Report 

 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

 
Infrastructure and local / impact investing are topical issues and offer the potential 
for greater diversification of the investment portfolio and some positive local 
benefit from investing.  There are many challenges and the proposal is that a 
watching brief is maintained for developed proposals in particular the Pension 
Infrastructure Platform. 
 

Recommendation:  

The Panel is invited to agree to monitor future opportunities. 
 

Agenda Item 12
Pages 75 to 90

75



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\2\0\AI00083023\$2si1nody.doc 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. This note and the attached Aon Hewitt report address two topical issues – 

infrastructure and local / impact investing.  These were highlighted at the 
last meeting as ‘new opportunities’ worthy of a brief discussion.   

 
2. Should the Committee be interested in further developing the issues, a more 

detailed paper will be developed. 
 
Infrastructure 
 
3. The definition of infrastructure is imprecise but tends to relate to investments 

that derive their income from the use of physical assets, such as a rental 
charge.  Examples include water utilities, energy and communication 
transmission, transport facilities (ports, airports, roads and bridges) etc.  PFI 
contracts in which Government pays for use of a hospital or school are also 
examples.  Classic characteristics are a usage related fee, barriers to entry 
through the costs of developing the assets, potentially fees set by a 
regulator, inflation linked income and long contracts etc. 

 
4. The characteristics of infrastructure appear ideal for pension schemes, in 

particular the inflation linked long term income streams and these types of 
assets are often seen as an alternative to index linked bonds as matching 
scheme liabilities.  Investor interest with infrastructure projects has soared 
since 2000 with sovereign wealth funds joining pension and insurance funds 
and many opportunities are already held in specialist funds, somewhat 
diminishing the attractiveness of the sector. 

 
5. Investments to date have mainly been in large global funds that buy existing 

in-use assets. Pension schemes have as a whole avoided the risk of 
investing in new build assets. In particular, the uncertainties of construction 
cost and the future revenue that will be generated all make new build less 
appealing than existing assets.  Examples of new build investments that 
incurred a loss include the Channel tunnel (construction cost over-runs) and 
the M6 toll road (low usage).  When Government encourage investment in 
infrastructure, it tends to be in new build, which is the segment of the market 
that pension funds have avoided.   

 
6. One response to the Government’s wish to see more pension fund 

investment in infrastructure, is the Pension Infrastructure Platform (PIP) 
jointly led by the National Association for Pension Funds and Pension 
Protection Fund, that aims to raise a fund of £2bn to invest in “core 
infrastructure, and in projects free of construction risk and on an availability 
basis so as to avoid excessive GDP [usage] risk. Investments will be 
inflation-linked and the fund is seeking long-term cash returns of RPI +2% to 
5%.” Although initially the fund is seeking large ‘founder’ schemes to commit 
£100 million each, it is planned to open to all schemes.  However, the start 
date has been delayed as details of the proposed government guarantee to 
protect against construction and usage risk await finalisation. 

 
7. PIP and other similar projects being discussed do offer the possibility of 

interesting opportunities.  It is suggested that if the Committee is primarily 
interested in UK rather than global infrastructure, that it monitors the 

76



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\2\0\AI00083023\$2si1nody.doc 

initiatives currently underway rather than investigate the traditional 
infrastructure fund space. 

 
Local / Impact Investing 
 
8. A potentially much more challenging area is investments that target the local 

community or possibly help to address Council priorities, while at the same 
time meeting the income needs of the fund.  The term growth investment is 
also used to highlight the aim of delivering a positive local economic impact. 

 
9. What this actually means in practice is somewhat vague as few examples, 

even those on the drawing board, exist.  In recent months the following 
initiates have appeared in the press: 

 
a) Manchester Council and their pension fund are planning to build mixed 

use housing on land owned by the Council. 
 
b) Five large Councils in Yorkshire, Merseyside and Manchester have 

agreed to jointly contribute £250 million to an ‘investing for growth 
initiative’.  They are seeking expressions of interest from asset managers.  
A wide range of investments will be considered and will include those with 
beneficial social, economic and environmental impact and could include 
infrastructure, resource management and business development projects. 

 
c) Strathclyde pension has hired an investment manager to lead a greater 

focus on local investing. 
 
10. Other than the first example involving housing, no actual investments are 

known.  Harrow’s housing team has been examining opportunities for 
construction of social or affordable housing and a pension fund involvement 
is one funding opportunity being considered. 

 
11. For these types of opportunities to work, they must meet most of the 

following conditions: 
 

• An expectation of market or close to market returns, 
• Some guarantee or mitigation of risk while approaching market level 

returns, 
• Liquidity which helps reduce perceived risk, 
• Robust measurement and evidence of the returns generated by the 

investment, 
• Larger sized investment opportunities, for example pooled funds, 

and 
• Fund managers with a track record. 

 
12. It is suggested that the only realistic approach is in tandem with other 

London boroughs and involving skilled investment managers.  If the panel is 
interested and wishes to act now the suggested steps are: 

 
a) Develop an objective on the lines of 9 (b) above, 
b) Identify a Harrow commitment level and a minimum collective fund 

size, 
c) Approach other London boroughs seeking partners, and 

77



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\2\0\AI00083023\$2si1nody.doc 

d) Depending on the level of interest determine if the project is 
deliverable. 

 
13. Harrow is not resourced to drive such a project and we would need support, 

potentially incurring project feasibility costs.  Alternatively, the Committee 
can monitor opportunities and express interest if suitable ones arise.  In 
reality, this is probably the better approach. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
14. Widening the scope of investments offers the possibility of greater 

diversification and higher returns.  Including non financial factors in the 
decision making may compromise the long term funding level. 

 
Risk Management Implications 
 
15. Risk included on Directorate risk register?  No   
 
16. Separate risk register in place?  No 
 
17. Setting risk tolerances and measuring outcomes is central to the strategy. 
 
Equalities implications 
 
18. Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out?  Yes  
  
19. There are no direct equalities implications relating to the pension fund. 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
20. Corporate Priorities are not applicable to the Pension Fund as it does not 

have a direct impact on Council resources. 
 
Legal Implications 

21. The report has been reviewed by Legal Department and comments received 
are incorporated into the report. 

  

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
    

 

Name: Simon George   √  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date: 10 June 2013 

   

Name: Matthew Adams √  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 10 June  2013 

   
 

 

78



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\2\0\AI00083023\$2si1nody.doc 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
Contact:  George Bruce (Treasury and Pension Fund Manager)   Tel: 020-

8424-1170 / Email: george.bruce@harrow.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers:  Papers and training material provided to the 
PFIP meetings on 12 October 2011, 15 November 2011 and 25 
June 2012 and 27 November 2012. 
 
If appropriate, does the report include the following considerations?  
 
1. Consultation  N/A 
2. Corporate Priorities N/A 
 

 

79



80

This page is intentionally left blank



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Pension Fund Committee 

Date of Meeting: 

 

25th June 2013 

Subject: 

 

External Audit Plan 2012-13 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Simon George, Director of Finance and 
Assurance 

Exempt: 

 

No. 

 

Enclosures: 

                                  

 
.Deloitte’s Audit Plan 

 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

 
. 
Deloitte will undertake an audit of the pension fund’s financial statements.  
Attached is their audit plan.  There are no significant changes from the prior year.  
The plan has been presented to GARM Committee. 
 
Recommendation:  

The Panel is invited to note the audit plan. 
 

Agenda Item 13
Pages 91 to 118

91



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\2\0\AI00083024\$v2fzwuyt.doc 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. The pension fund is required to prepare financial statements for the year to 

31st March 2013.  These will be audited by Deloitte, whose audit plan is 
attached. 

 
2. The plan has no significant changes from the prior year.  The key audit risks 

are identified as contributions, benefits, private equity, derivatives and 
management overriding controls.  Materiality is set at £4.8 million (prior 
years £5.3 million) although all unadjusted errors above £242,000 (PY 
£260,000) will be reported. 

 
3. The audit fee is substantially reduced to £21,000 (PY £35,000) arising from 

changes to the way the Audit Commission is funded.  Deloitte’s 
remuneration is unchanged.  The partner and senior manager continue from 
2012.   

 
4. The plan has been presented to GARM Committee at which no significant 

comments arose. 
 
5. It is anticipated that the accounts will be completed by end of June 2013 

and the audit report issued in August.  Both will be presented to the 
Committee at the September meeting. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
6. None. 
 
Risk Management Implications 
 
7. Risk included on Directorate risk register?  No   
 
8. Separate risk register in place?  No 
 
9. Setting risk tolerances and measuring outcomes is central to the strategy. 
 
Equalities implications 
 
10. Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out?  Yes  
  
11. There are no direct equalities implications relating to the pension fund. 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
12. Corporate Priorities are not applicable to the Pension Fund as it does not 

have a direct impact on Council resources. 
 
Legal Implications 

13. The report has been reviewed by Legal Department and comments received 
are incorporated into the report. 

92



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\2\0\AI00083024\$v2fzwuyt.doc 

  

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
    

 

Name: Simon George   √  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date: 10 June 2013 

   

Name: Matthew Adams √  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 10 June  2013 

   
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
Contact:  George Bruce (Treasury and Pension Fund Manager)   Tel: 020-

8424-1170 / Email: george.bruce@harrow.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers:  None. 
 
If appropriate, does the report include the following considerations?  
 
1. Consultation  N/A 
2. Corporate Priorities N/A 
 

 

93



94

This page is intentionally left blank



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

   REPORT FOR: 
 

Pension Fund Committee 

Date of Meeting: 

 

25th June 2013 

Subject: 

 

Information Report - Update Report and 
Action Points from Previous Meetings 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Simon George, Director of Finance and 
Assurance 

Exempt: 

 

No. 

 

Enclosures: 

 

 
Appendix 1- Action Points 
Appendix 2 – Meeting Plan 2013-14 
Appendix 3 – Membership and Remit 

 
    

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 
This report provides an update (appendix 1) of actions taken since the last 
meeting. 
  
FOR INFORMATION 
 

Agenda Item 14
Pages 119 to 126

119



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\2\0\AI00083025\$od300pzw.doc 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. An update of actions taken from prior meetings is summarised in 

appendix 1. 
 
RBS Legal Action 
 
2. At the March meeting the Committee discussed the potential to join a 

group legal action against Royal Bank of Scotland seeking 
compensation for losses suffered from participating in the 2008 rights.  
The claim arises from deficiencies in the prospectus relating to the rights 
issue. 

 
3. When last discussed, the Committee sought further legal advice and 

details of participation by local authorities. 
 
4. Since the March meeting Harrow’s Legal team has reviewed the 

documentation and supports participation on a no win no fee basis 
provided that Harrow is protected against costs should the claim be lost.  
Documentation on the funding agreement and adverse cost cover is 
awaited.  Neither has been finalised so far. 

 
5. In terms of participating by Local Authorities, only one has positively 

committed so far.  Another 14, including Harrow, joined a telephone 
conference call on 10 June 2013 and are actively considering 
participating. 

 
6. Additional documentation is being discussed with Legal as it arises and 

Harrow will only participate if the Legal department are satisfied on the 
cost protection. 

 
Section 3 – Further Information 
 
7. See appendix 1. 
 
Section 4 - Financial Implications 
 
8. Financial implications are central to the issues discussed in the paper. 
 
Section 5 – Equalities Implications 
 
9. Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out?  Yes. 
 

10. There are no direct equalities implications relating to the Pension Fund.  
 

Section 6 - Corporate Priorities 
 

11. Corporate Priorities are not applicable to the Pension Fund as it does not 
have a direct impact on Council’s resources. 

  

 

120



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\2\0\AI00083025\$od300pzw.doc 

Section 7 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 
    

 
Name: Simon George  √  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date: 10 June 2013 

   

    
on behalf of the 

Name: Matthew Adams √  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 10 June 2013                                          

   
 

 

Section 8 Section 8 Section 8 Section 8 ---- Contact Details / Background Papers Contact Details / Background Papers Contact Details / Background Papers Contact Details / Background Papers    
 
Contact:  George Bruce (Treasury and Pension Fund Manager)   Tel: 020-

8424-1170 / Email: george.bruce@harrow.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers:  Nil 

121



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\2\0\AI00083025\$od300pzw.doc 

Appendix 1 
London Borough of Harrow 

 
Pension Fund Investment Panel 

 
Update Report and Action Points – 25th June 2013 

 
Issue/decision Source Action Taken Next Steps 

Market Update Report 
 
The equity allocation is reduced to 
64% and proceeds held in cash to 
be used to fund investment in 
Standard Life GARS. 
 

Nov 2010 
Minute 
49 

The cash 
balance will be 
used to fund the 
DGF Mandates. 

Complete. 

Responsible Investment 
RESOLVED:  That the report be 
deferred to a future meeting and 
officers, as part of this, be 
requested to address the comments 
above. 
 
 

15 Nov 
2011 
Minute 
125 

Additional 
information on 
the legal 
position, union 
views, 
investment 
manager stance 
and income / 
cost impact is 
being collected. 

Ongoing. 

BlackRock Bond Opportunities 
The report was deferred for 
consideration at the next meeting. 

Jun 2012 
Minute 
163 

On the 
November 
meeting agenda  

Review at 
November 
meeting – also 
covered in 
minute 209.  
Complete 

Governance of the PFIP 
RESOLVED: 
  (1) that the outline proposals for 

the terms of reference of the 
Pension Fund Investment 
Panel to be expanded, as set 
out in the report, be taken to 
the Constitution Review 
Working Group for 
consideration; 

 
(2)  that following (1) above, 

detailed proposals be drafted 
and recommended to the 
LGPC; 

 
(3) that consideration be given to 

expand the membership of the 
Pension Fund Investment 
Panel to include two 
independent, co-opted 
members to act in an advisory 

Nov 2012 
Minute 
186 

A revised remit 
has been 
adopted by 
Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Investigation 
underway of 
remuneration 
levels for similar 
roles within 
other LBs 

See Appendix 3 
Complete 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Complete 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 

122



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\2\0\AI00083025\$od300pzw.doc 

capacity;   
 
 

Review of the Investment Strategy 
RESOLVED: 
 
1) 10% of the fund be invested in 
the selected fund managers (5% 
each to Standard Life and Barings); 
 
2) the new managers to be funded 
from available cash and the balance 
to be withdrawn from the Fidelity 
mandate 
 
and that: 
 
3) the revised strategy as shown in 
Appendix 2 of the report be 
approved subject to reflecting the 
lower 10% allocation to DGF 
mandates 
 
4) the equity mandates be reviewed 
at the next meeting 
 
5) the alternative fixed income 
products available from BlackRock 
be  reviewed at a later date; 
 
6) authority be delegated to the 
Section 151 Officer (or deputy) to 
sign any documentation required to 
complete the appointment of the 
selected DGF managers. 
 

March 
2013 
Minute 
209 
 

Two DGF 
Managers were 
selected: 
Barings and 
Standard Life. 
 
 
£35 million was 
drawn-down 
with Fidelity. 

£27 million was 
invested with 
Barings in May 
2013. 
 
 
 
The Investment 
of £27 million 
with Standard 
Life is pending. 
 
 
 
Complete - SIP 
updated and 
included on 
agenda 
 
 
Complete – on 
agenda 
 
Carried forward 
 
 
 
Complete 

Meeting Plan 2013-14 
Resolved:  That 
 
(1) the report be noted; 
 
(2) an informal meeting to meet 

the equity fund managers be 
arranged for the May half 
term break. 

 
(3)  Training to be provided prior 

to the commencement of the 
next meeting on ‘good 
governance’ and the CIPFA 
skills and knowledge 
framework. 

 

March 
2013 
Minute 
206 

Equity fund 
manager 
meeting day at 
Harrow took 
place on 30th 
May 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Complete - 
Members who 
were unable to 
attend were 
forwarded 
materials from 
the day. 
 
On agenda 
 
 
 
 
On agenda 
 

123



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\2\0\AI00083025\$od300pzw.doc 

(4)  An agenda item to be 
included at the next meeting 
on investing in infrastructure. 

18th September 2013 
25th November 2013 
19th March 2014 

 
See Appendix 2 
 

London Pension Fund Merger 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Legal Action Against the Royal 
Bank of Scotland 

  

March 
2013 
Minute 
207 

Members were 
unanimous in 
their view that 
the Harrow 
Pension Fund 
should retain its 
autonomy. 
 
More 
information 
requested on 
those authorities 
already 
committed to 
the group 
action, and 
further advice 
on the probable 
outcome of any 
action. 
 

On agenda. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See comments 
above. 
 

 Information Report - Investment 
Manager Monitoring   

  
RESOLVED:   
That the report be noted. 
 

March 
2013 
Minute 
210 

N/A Complete. 

 Information Report - Performance of 
Fund Managers for Quarter Ended 
31 December 2012   

  
RESOLVED:   
That the report be noted. 

  

March 
2013 
Minute 
211 

N/A Complete. 

Update Report 
 
That the report be noted. 

March 
2013 
Minute 
205 

N/A Complete. 

 

124



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\2\0\AI00083025\$od300pzw.doc 

 
 

Appendix 2 
 
Meeting dates 2013-14 
 

Quarter 3 
18/09/13 

Quarter 4 
25/11/13 

Quarter 1 
19/03/14 

 

Manager Monitoring  Manager Monitoring  Manager Monitoring   
Valuation & 
performance 

Valuation & 
performance 

Valuation & 
performance 

 

Update Report Update Report Update Report  
Annual Accounts and 
Auditors’ Report 

Bond Options Meeting plan 2014-15  

Investment & 
administration costs  

Annual strategy 
monitoring & 
rebalancing 

Property and private 
equity reviews 

 

Review of 
operational controls 
at Investment 
managers 

Training on 
governance 
requirements arising 
from 2014 
Regulations 

Voting and 
engagement by fund 
managers 

 

Equity Options – 
detailed proposals 

   

Actuarial valuation    
    
 

125



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\2\0\AI00083025\$od300pzw.doc 

Appendix 3 
 

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE   
 
 
 Conservative 

 
(2) 

Labour 
 
(2) 

Independent 
Labour 
(0) 

Ungrouped 
 
(0) 

 
I. 
Members 
 

Tony Ferrari 
Richard Romain 
(CH) * 

Keith Ferry * 
Sachin Shah 
 
 

  

II. 
Reserve 
Members 

1.  Stephen Wright 
2.  Kam Chana 

1. Bill Phillips 
2. Bill Stephenson 
 

  

 
  
 Harrow UNISON Co-optee (Non-voting):  Steve Compton 
 GMB Co-optee (Non-voting):  Sanjay Karia 
 Co-optee (Non-voting): Howard Bluston 
 
  
(CH)    = Chair 
*   Denotes Group Members for consultation on Delegated Action 

and/or administrative matters. 
 
 
PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 
 
The Pension Fund Committee has the following powers and duties: 
  
to exercise on behalf of the Council, all the powers and duties of the Council 
in relation to its functions as Administering Authority of the LB Harrow Pension 
Fund (the fund), save for those matters delegated to other Committees of the 
Council or to an Officer; 
 
the determination of applications under the Local Government 
Superannuation Regulations and the Teachers’ Superannuation Regulations; 
 
to administer all matters concerning the Council’s pension investments in 
accordance with the law and Council policy; 
 
to establish a strategy for the disposition of the pension investment portfolio; 
and 
 
to appoint and determine the investment managers’ delegation of powers of 
management of the fund. 
 
  
 

126



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Pension Fund Committee 

Date of Meeting: 

 

25th June 2013 

Subject: 

 

London Pension Fund Collaboration 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Simon George, Director of Finance and 
Assurance 

Exempt: 

 

No. 

 

Enclosures: 

                                  

 
Local Government Ministers Speech 
Paper to the London Leaders’ Committee 

 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

 
The Committee has previously expressed opposition to a forced merger of 
London pension funds.  The Government will commence this year a consultation 
on views relating to collaboration and merger.  Proposals to set up a voluntary 
collective investment vehicle (CIV) are being developed by the London Leaders. 
 

Recommendation:  

The Panel is invited to agree: 
(a) to support the investigation and establishment of voluntary collaboration 

models for London pension funds, including a collective investment 
vehicle, and 

(b) delegate authority to the Section 151 officer after consultation with the 
Chairman to approve expenditure relating to the investigation and set up 
costs of the CIV up to a limit of £50,000. 

 

Agenda Item 15
Pages 127 to 142

127



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\2\0\AI00083026\$05hvjbgu.doc 

Section 2 – Report 
 
1. The Committee has been informed of ongoing discussions on the merits of 

the London LGPS schemes joining together to reduce costs and improve 
performance.  At the March meeting the Committee expressed opposition to 
a forced merger.  Developments since then include a speech from the 
minister responsible for Local government and further investigation by a 
working group formed jointly by the London Leaders’ Committee and the 
Society of London Treasurers.  Developments and suggested actions are 
set out below. 

 
Speech by Brandon Lewis, Local Government Minister 
 
2. Mr Lewis announced to the NAPF Local Government conference that the 

Government will be consulting later in the year on the options for change to 
the LGPS.  He clearly feels that the evidence suggests that too much 
collectively is being paid in fees and that “the scheme could benefit from a 
smaller number of optimal funds”.  He then added that “there is clear 
agreement that doing nothing was not an option”.  A copy of the speech is 
attached. 

 
3. In terms of desired outcomes the minister said these were “more 

transparency, better data, fewer unnecessary overheads and stronger, more 
consistent investment performance.”  This chimes with earlier statements 
from the DCLG that called for the case for merger to be properly examined.  
London is still seen as a target for greater collaboration. 

 
4. The Committee will be kept informed of developments in good time to allow 

an agreed response to the consultation. 
 
London Leaders / SLT Working Group 
 
5. The London Leaders and Society of London Treasurers have been 

comparing a range of options for closer pension fund collaboration in terms 
of impact and practicality.  The preferred option is a collective investment 
fund (CIV) that operates on a voluntary basis.  The proposal is that the CIV 
will be a bridge between individual schemes and fund managers.  The CIV 
will identify and monitor one or more fund managers for each asset class, 
agreeing fees.  Individual schemes such as Harrow will then be able to opt 
into those arrangements. 

 
6. The advantage of a CIV compared with merger is that there will be no 

change to the Harrow fund structure, no merger and the Committee will 
remain responsible for the investment strategy.  The additional available 
choice will be that when it came to manager selection, Harrow is able to use 
the managers selected by the CIV.  This might be across the whole fund or 
for specific asset classes only.  Monitoring of fund managers and decisions 
to de-select could continue to be undertaken by Harrow, although this would 
also be a responsibility of the CIV.  With additional resources and a larger 
mandate, the hope is that a CIV will result in improved investment 
performance, which is debateable and lower fees, a more reasonable 
expectation. 

 

128



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\2\0\AI00083026\$05hvjbgu.doc 

7. Already one London borough, Wandsworth, has come forward to offer to 
host the CIV.  A copy of the latest Leaders paper on the issue is attached.  
Change to scheme benefit administration functions has taken a back seat 
for the moment. 

 
Other Research 
 
8. London pension funds have collected information on individual fund 

performance compared with the larger county council and concluded that 
while there is a wide distribution of returns across London, which might 
indicate poor management by some councils, that on average the larger 
county council’s generate returns that were no higher than the London 
average.  The research did suggest that there is scope for fee savings, but 
not to the extent suggested by earlier commentators.  

 
Conclusion 
 
9. It is clear that Government seeks change, possibly by compulsion if not 

achieved voluntarily.  The CIV route now being investigated addresses 
many of the concerns raised in previous discussions on compulsory merger 
and possibly also has advantages compared with the current status: 

 
a) It leaves unchanged the structure of the scheme, the setting of strategy 

and the determination of manager mandate (active v passive). 
b) By operating at asset class level, it allows choice as to which asset 

classes should be collectively managed and which excluded. 
c) There is no compulsion and decisions to use the CIV can be reversed 

with costs no higher than a normal manager change and nil if no 
manager change is involved. 

d) Although the CIV will have running costs (staff, accommodation and 
advisors) these should be wholly offset by reduced management fees 
through larger pools of assets.  Also, individual schemes may save on 
advisor fees. 

e) Direct supervision of managers can be delegated to the CIV saving 
Committee time and fees. 

f) Perhaps most importantly, by acting to achieve the fee savings and 
improved performance the Government expect from pooling assets, we 
may avoid more drastic action being imposed. 

 
10. It is suggested that the Committee support further investigation of the CIV 

option and remain open minded about using a CIV.  It is possible that 
Harrow will be asked to contribute to the investigation and set up costs of 
the CIV, and it is suggested that authority be delegated to the Section 151 
officer after consultation with the Chairman to approve such expenditure up 
to a limit of £50,000.  It is considered that if London Councils refuse to 
explore the potential for a CIV that the Government is more likely to force 
change, such as merge. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
11. Merger or collaboration will have a significant impact on the way the fund 

operates and the ability of the Committee to take decisions.  The Committee 
and Council needs to be fully involved. 

129



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\2\0\AI00083026\$05hvjbgu.doc 

 
Risk Management Implications 
 
12. Risk included on Directorate risk register?  No   
 
13. Separate risk register in place?  No 
 
14. Setting risk tolerances and measuring outcomes is central to the strategy. 
 
Equalities implications 
 
15. Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out?  Yes  
  
16. There are no direct equalities implications relating to the pension fund. 
 
Corporate Priorities 
 
17. Corporate Priorities are not applicable to the Pension Fund as it does not 

have a direct impact on Council resources. 
 
Legal Implications 

18. The report has been reviewed by Legal Department and comments received 
are incorporated into the report. 

  

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
    

 

Name: Simon George   √  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date: 10 June 2013 

   

Name: Matthew Adams √  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 10 June  2013 

   
 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details / Background Papers 
 
Contact:  George Bruce (Treasury and Pension Fund Manager)   Tel: 020-

8424-1170 / Email: george.bruce@harrow.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers:  Relevant press comments have been circulated. 
 
If appropriate, does the report include the following considerations?  
 
1. Consultation  N/A 
2. Corporate Priorities N/A 
 

 

130



Speech by Local Government Minister Brandon Lewis on the local government pension scheme. 

Originally given at Cotswold Water Park Four Pillars Hotel. This is a transcript of the speech, exactly as 

it was delivered.  

Introduction 

Thank you very much Joanne [Segars, Chief Executive, NAPF] for that kind introduction and for 

inviting me to open the conference. 

You asked me to speak about the new local government pension scheme (LGPS) that we will be 

introducing next April and I will of course do so. These reforms will reduce the cost of the LGPS to 

employers and taxpayers. But we also need to think more fundamentally about the way the LGPS is 

structured. The LGPS has an enviable record on scheme administration and many of you can be proud 

of what you are achieving. Nevertheless, the scheme has changed little since 1974. Is it still fit for 

purpose and can it deliver value for money for scheme members, employers and taxpayers? 

LGPS reform 

Six months ago I spoke at your local authority forum and set out the case for reform and our programme 

for bringing forward the new LGPS in April 2014. Much has happened since then. In December, we 

launched the first consultation on the main elements of the new scheme. Almost 150 responses were 

received which we took on board in a second consultation at the end of March. We received about 30 

responses, which suggests to me that we got things pretty much spot on first time around.  

The journey from a final salary defined benefit scheme to a new career average scheme, with all the 

required protections under the Public Service Pensions Act, was never going to be an easy one. There is 

still a great deal of work to do, including another consultation very shortly on draft administration and 

governance regulations. But despite the complexities and challenging timetable, we remain on track to 

deliver the key elements of the new scheme on time.  

A great number of you in the audience will have helped to get us where we are today. We are in a good 

place because of your help and co-operation and I know that I can rely on you all to ensure that the new 

scheme is a success from the start.  

Efficiency and cost effectiveness 

Introducing the new scheme is a clear priority for us all, but since becoming Local Government 

Minister, I have also been clear that looking at other ways of achieving better value for money for 

taxpayers is equally, if not more important. After all, you are responsible for vast sums of money. You 

spend about £8 billion a year on pension benefits, while fund management and scheme administration 

costs alone are almost £500 million a year.  

There are plenty of examples where local pension funds are already working together to share services, 

to establish local or national call-off contracts and in some cases, to pool pension fund assets. This is all 

good news, but I am equally aware that there are just as many authorities that are sitting on the sidelines 

waiting to be told what to do.  

Many people associated with the LGPS, including a fair few in the audience today, have been to see me 

with their ideas. Most of them have said that if there are to be fewer funds, theirs should remain because 

it’s the best.  

131



All of them have raised some important points. For example, most agree that we need to see the costs of 

administering funds and the fees paid to fund managers reduced. To achieve this, we need a better 

understanding of the factors driving these costs. In particular, I want to understand why the 

administration and fund management costs of similar fund authorities can vary so markedly.  

Data 

We need better data to help answer the question about what makes a good, strongly performing fund. It 

is all too simple to look at funding levels and on that basis, say that fund x is better than fund y. But I 

think we all know that the position is far more complex than that. Funding levels alone do not determine 

performance.  

We need a more sophisticated model that takes account of other factors such as discount rate, 

investment returns, cash flow, recovery periods and perhaps, most importantly, the funding strategy 

statement and statement of investment principles adopted by individual funds. Only then will we be able 

to compare the performance of individual funds on a level playing field.  

A common complaint I hear is that there is no single LGPS annual report. This is something we must 

address. Pension fund authorities are already required to publish their own pension fund reports and I 

have no wish to change that arrangement. But academics, trades unions and others tell me they are fed 

up with having to obtain and then collate 89 different reports to end up with the national picture. I have 

therefore asked my officials to open discussions with scheme stakeholders to agree the format and 

content of an annual scheme report to sit alongside individual fund reports.  

Investments 

The scheme is becoming increasingly mature and it is no secret that some funds are close to becoming 

cash-negative. We therefore need to see even better and more consistent returns on the £150 billion 

worth of investments in the scheme.  

I therefore want to undertake a root and branch review of the LGPS investment regulations. Some have 

suggested that the funds should be better directed to support growth, particularly local growth. We have 

already taken steps to allow fund authorities to increase their exposure to limited liability partnerships, 

but I accept that we may need to go further.  

In particular, I want to know if there are any other obstacles in the regulations that prevent you from 

maximizing your returns. I am not suggesting that we should dispense altogether with the requirement 

for you to assess the risks associated with your investments. After all, this is taxpayers’ money you are 

investing and we must continue to get the right balance between risk and reward. 

Funding deficits 

My other priority is to tackle the equally important issue of fund deficits. We can’t bury our heads in the 

sand and just keep pushing these significant costs on to future generations of employers and taxpayers.  

I want to develop a clear strategy that will both address the historical deficits that have built up over 

past decades and ensure that future funding levels remain at a level which are fair and affordable. I 

don’t underestimate the challenge I have set myself but this is not a problem I can choose to ignore. 

With your help, I want to find a better way to manage deficits. For example, is their a case for moving 

away from the concept of long term solvency as a funding target and moving towards a model that 

looks at cash flows and a fund’s capacity to meet pension payments over the short and medium terms?  

132



Fund mergers 

I now want to say something about fund mergers. There is probably no other issue on the LGPS radar 

that attracts such diverse and forthright views. I recognise the tensions out there, and no doubt in the 

room today, but I am clear that we must explore every option that might give employers and taxpayers a 

better deal.  

Opinion is clearly divided on the issue of whether “big is better”, but for me, the real question is 

whether “small is worse”. There is compelling evidence from around the world to suggest that the 

scheme could benefit from a smaller number of optimal funds. But some of you contend that small 

funds can perform on a par with larger ones. Both sides are equally convinced of their case.  

Local Government Association/Department for Communities 

and Local Government roundtable 

All of these issues were raised at a very useful roundtable meeting at the department last week, and I am 

grateful to the LGA for making that happen. 

I was unable to stay for the whole meeting, but I am reliably informed that the discussion was lively and 

wide-ranging. I expected no less. Among the many different views expressed by trade unionists, 

academics, politicians and practitioners, a number of common themes emerged.  

There was clear agreement that doing nothing was not an option. We can and will put in place a new 

regulatory framework for April 2014, but this needs to work within a structure that is efficient, cost 

effective and offers the best value for money. Concerns were raised about the pace of any change and I 

respect that view. Having the new scheme in place by April next year has to be our number one priority, 

but at the same time, we cannot afford to just keep talking about structural reform. We need clear 

objectives and a clear strategy to achieve change.  

I was also pleased to learn that a clear consensus had emerged on the need for more focused and better 

scheme data. Different parties had different ideas about what those needs are, and various attendees said 

that they would be prepared to lend their experience and expertise in helping to develop a new dataset 

that better meets today’s needs. I see this as an essential first step in the process to reform the structure 

of the LGPS.  

The point was also made that we need to find a better way of managing pension liabilities to ensure that 

all future pension payments can be met. It was suggested that a few funds are already cash negative and 

eating into their assets in order to pay pensions. I think we can all agree that this is not making the best 

use of fund assets. 

It is perhaps no surprise that the issue of fund mergers loomed large in the discussion. The arguments 

for and against fund mergers were, as ever, well made.  

The way forward 

So what is the way forward? What is clear to me is that things need to change. We need more 

transparency, better data, fewer unnecessary overheads and stronger, more consistent investment 

performance. 

What we do not have at this point is agreement on the best way of achieving these goals. 

133



But I am determined that we make progress and make it as quickly as reasonably possible. I can 

therefore announce this morning, that we will consult later in the year on a number of broad principles 

for change. This will be your opportunity to tell us what reforms could be made to both help improve 

your investment performance and reduce your fund management costs.  

The consultation will not set out some pre-determined solution to what is undoubtedly a complex and 

contentious issue. I am neither ruling anything in nor ruling anything out at this stage. However, the 

clear message from me this morning is that I am not wedded to the existing number of 89 funds in 

England and Wales. If it takes a smaller number of funds to improve the efficiency and cost-

effectiveness of the scheme, I shall not shy away from pursuing that goal.  

I have talked a fair amount about the need for robust data to inform decisions. I am therefore working 

with the LGA and others to launch a call for evidence, which will both inform our consultation and help 

all involved formulate their views in response to the consultation.  

You will be aware that work is well underway to establish a shadow national pensions board for the 

LGPS. I have met with the LGA and local government trades unions on several occasions to discuss the 

sort of work that I would like the board to undertake. 

I hope I have left them in no doubt that I see work on structural reform of the LGPS, as well as pension 

liabilities and fund deficits, being one of their first priorities. I have also impressed on them the need for 

the shadow board to work alongside other representative groups, all of whom must have a say in how 

we take forward this key element of the reform process.  

There is of course the temptation to put all of this to one side and put all our efforts into getting the new 

scheme in place for April. I appreciate the valuable contribution you are all making to that end, but I 

believe that I must press forward.  

I want good scheme regulations working within a reformed structure that is cost effective and affordable 

to those who pay the scheme’s costs. I am open to the idea that change itself may have to wait until after 

the new scheme has been introduced, but I am determined to get you thinking now about what changes 

we need and how they can be achieved. 

Conclusion 

By the time we meet again next year, the new LGPS scheme will be up and running. On the equally 

important matter of structural reform, I fully anticipate that we will have a clear way forward to which 

we are all committed. 

 

134



Leaders’ Committee 

Pensions Working Group: 
Progress update 

 Item no:    6 

Report by: Chris Buss 

Chris Bilsland 

Hugh Grover 

Job title: Director of Finance, LB Wandsworth 

Chamberlain, City of London Corporation 

Director Fair Funding, Performance & 
Procurement, London Councils 

Date: 14 May 2013 

Contact
Officer: 

Hugh Grover 

Telephone: 020 7934 9942 Email: Hugh.grover@londoncouncils.gov.uk 

Summary This report follows on from previous discussions on the potential for more 

collaboration between those London Boroughs that wished to do so, on 

the management and investment of pension funds. 

It concludes that the focus of any such collaboration should be to 

optimise investment returns whilst the potential to make administrative 

savings, whilst important, should be the secondary consideration. 

The report has been prepared by officers from London local government 

and London Councils supporting the member led working group 

established by Leaders’ Committee towards the end of 2012. 

Whilst there are several options for voluntary collaboration, a Common 

Investment Vehicle (CIV) is seen as the model which offers the best 

potential and it is recommended that further detailed work is undertaken 

on governance and a procurement strategy so that a fully worked up 

proposal may be submitted for future consideration.

Recommendations Leaders’ Committee is recommended to: 

i. Note the work undertaken by the Working Group on considering the 

route towards establishing a potential CIV; 

ii. Commission the Working Group, to undertake further work, and 

report back on those issues which would need to be addressed in the 

setting up of any future CIV, including: 

135



a. Detailed consideration of possible governance mechanisms; 

b. A potential procurement strategy; and 

c. Options for establishing a possible host entity or Special 

Purpose Vehicle.  

iii. Agree in principle to move towards a CIV for those boroughs who 

wish to, subject to Leaders’ Committee consideration of the outcome 

of the further work by the Working Group. 

136



Pensions Working Group:   Progress update

Background

1. The issue of potential economies arising from merging the administration and 

investment arrangements has been under discussion for a number of years. In March 

2012, Leaders’ Committee received a report from the London Pensions Fund Authority 

(LPFA) on the potential for a London pension mutual and a common investment vehicle 

(CIV). The Society of London Treasurers (SLT) also provided advice to Leaders’ 

Committee on the potential for both a mutual and a CIV. The SLT advice also raised a 

number of questions that it suggested would need addressing before any final decisions 

could sensibly be taken. Leaders’ Committee commissioned further work to be done to 

looking at the questions raised. Following that meeting, SLT then commissioned work 

from the consultants PwC which was presented to the 13 November 2012 Leaders’ 

Committee meeting. The report addressed the questions raised by SLT and identified 

four possible options that could provide ways forward: 

a. Collective Investment Funds,  

b. London Framework Fund,  

c. Common Investments Merger and a 

d. Full Merger.  

2. The PwC report only considered the first two options as potentially viable at the present 

time.

3. Following discussion in November 2012, Leaders’ Committee resolved that a small 

working group of members and officers should be formed to consider the advice from 

PwC in more detail and to report back with recommendations before the summer of 

2013. A report to the 11 December meeting of Leaders’ Committee proposed terms of 

reference and membership (the three Group Leaders and representatives from SLT) for 

the group. 

4. The consensus among the Working Group is that although some savings could accrue 

from the joint administration of investments and/or benefits administration, the largest 

financial benefit to London pension funds would accrue from better investment returns 

and this should be the focus of attention. With that in mind it was agreed that the SLT 

representatives would conduct a survey of the Society to see what the appetite would be 

to work towards a CIV. 

137



A Collective Investment Vehicle

5. A CIV (or fund) is a structure whereby each of the participating boroughs - and it should 

be stressed that participation by boroughs would be voluntary -  would retain autonomy 

in asset allocation and funding strategy. There would be a host entity, or Special 

Purpose Vehicle, working within new governance arrangements, that establishes a 

choice of funds within each asset class, selects fund managers and negotiates and 

monitors fee and service levels. The participating boroughs would set their asset 

allocation, choosing between wide ranges of Investment Funds offered.  

6.  SLT members were surveyed and 26 responses were received, none of which were 

against the concept of a CIV, although the majority said that they would need to know 

more before definitely deciding whether to use such a vehicle. However, despite this 

element of natural caution, it is considered that such a vehicle should be further 

investigated, particularly in the light of other changes happening in the wider LGPS 

landscape.

7. SLT representatives also met with Aon Hewitt who are engaged in a similar review in 

Wales. There, grouping Welsh LGPS assets into a collective investment vehicle is the 

recommended way forward as it is believed to be an attractive model which could deliver 

the same benefits as a wholesale merger, particularly greater investment returns and 

fund efficiencies, but without the associated transition costs, complexity or lengthy 

implementation timescales. A note summarising the work of the Welsh group is 

appended.

8. SLT has also noted a number of press statements from the LPFA which talk about “One 

Fund for London” but it is not thought that there has been any formal dialogue with the 

London Boroughs on this. 

View of Central Government

9. The publicly stated view of the Government as to the working of the 100 plus LGPS 

schemes in the UK has been, until recently, that there were no plans to actively merge 

schemes. However, the following extract from the January 2013 Local Government 

Pension Scheme Policy Review Group is informative1. 

i. “DCLG explained that Ministers believed that the case for amalgamation 

should be properly examined. There would be a call for evidence in the next 

six months. Funds were not generally supportive of full merger. Fund merger 

                                                
1
 http://www.clg.heywood.co.uk/system/files/PRG+minutes+10+Jan.doc 

138



would necessitate increased borrowing. There would also be a need to 

legislate and Ministers were reluctant to do this. There was a view that 

London would be a target area for mergers, but the performance of a 

number of London authorities had improved from below the average to 

considerably above in recent years.  It was felt that the end result of such 

considerations was likely to be increased collaboration, particularly 

regarding investment.”    

10. Subsequent to that meeting, the LGA is convening a pensions round table on May 16th 

at which the SLT will be represented and at which the Minister (Brandon Lewis MP) will 

attend to open the session and share his thoughts in this area. It is understood that 

these views will include a desire to reduce the number of funds nationally. It is unclear at 

present whether, if this is so, this would be via compulsion or on a voluntary basis. 

However, the retention of the status quo is unlikely to be on the Government’s agenda. 

11. At its meeting on April 19th, SLT discussed further the options available to London 

collectively and concluded that the retention of the current arrangements of 33 borough 

level funds working within their individual arrangements was unlikely to be tenable in the 

long-term future. It also felt that a CIV was the practical option for joint working in the 

short to medium-term and that, for some of the boroughs, this could be a first step to 

voluntary merger(s). A merger by compulsion was not supported for a variety of 

reasons, including current and future cost, risk of cross subsidy and loss of democratic 

oversight.   

Establishing a CIV

12. As stated earlier, the savings from aggregating administration are relatively minor 

compared to the benefits from better investment returns. Neither is there compelling 

evidence that the ‘bigger is better’ argument wins against the ‘small is beautiful’, or vice 

versa. However, there is evidence that there is a wide divergence of performance in 

London which is not related to fund size and more to asset allocation decisions. In the 

light of this and the consensus to explore further collaborative working on a voluntary 

basis, there is an immediate need to investigate the setting up of a CIV enabling 

boroughs to pool resources to improve the position not only in respect of fee levels, but 

try and achieve better performance overall.  

13. The establishment of a CIV would need either a host entity or the establishment of a 

Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV). The former would be quicker to establish than the latter 

and the host entity could conceivably be a lead borough, London Councils or the LPFA 

139



for example.  It would be premature to recommend any of these as a preferred option at 

this point and, undoubtedly, legal advice would be needed before any such 

recommendation could be made.  

14. Some initial work has been undertaken on the timescale for setting up a CIV in terms of 

the appointment of an investment fund advisor. At present, the 33 London funds employ 

10 different advisors, although 3 firms account for 24 appointments. The procurement of 

a fund advisor for the CIV would involve an EU tender and the likely timescale would be 

in the region of 9 months from decision to commencement of service. Once this was in 

place decisions could be made on fund managers.  Based on initial legal advice, the 

latter would be a non EU procurement and would be based upon the recommendations 

of the approved fund advisor.  

15. There has been some suggestion that the fund managers could be directly employed by 

the CIV and this was suggested by LPFA in their original suggestion. However, this 

would need further research  

16. The costs of establishing a CIV with funds in the region of £2 billion, which is 10% of 

London borough funds under management as at March 2012, would, based upon some 

initial market soundings, be in the region of £600,000-£900,000 depending upon how 

many fund manager categories are appointed and the level of devolvement by individual 

boroughs to the CIV, and the level of set up costs to be recovered from future running 

costs. However, this represents 0.03%-0.045% (3-4.5 basis points) of the funds under 

management and a saving of that amount should be achieved on reduced fees achieved 

through the tendering exercise.  

Some Governance Considerations

17. Initial funding for a host entity or SPV would come from participating authorities, but 

once established would be more than paid for from reduced fees. The lead body would 

procure an investment advisor followed by a transition manager and investment 

funds/fund managers within each asset class, including alternatives like infrastructure. 

18. The CIV would maintain a “best of breed” selection of funds/ managers for each asset 

class. These would be well defined, generally segregated mandates, with the CIV using 

its buying power to secure lower investment manager fees. The CIV would be 

responsible for day-to-day governance in relation to each selected manager, including, 

in conjunction with the appointed investment advisor, performing necessary due 

diligence for the chosen managers. This would include quarterly meetings with 

140



managers and providing quarterly reports for borough pensions committees that 

summarise performance and any other pertinent information for the due diligence.   

19. Boroughs would be free to choose which, if any, manager, to use from the CIV.  

Boroughs would not be compelled to use any CIV manager, but clearly, best-in-breed 

managers at the lowest cost obtainable should make the selection of managers 

desirable. One of the first asset classes to be investigated would be Infrastructure. 

20. Individual funds would retain their own custodians, control over asset allocation, and 

accounting responsibilities, although manager related information would be supplied by 

the CIV.  In time, the CIV could also be used to provide any other officer related 

investment duties that boroughs voluntarily wished to delegate, for instance if key staff 

left a particular borough – this could extend to preparing draft reports for all investment 

related matters for the local pensions committee, using a common custodian and 

preparation of accounts etc. 

21. If and when appropriate, funds/managers would be deselected and recommendations 

for change would be made.  Boroughs would be free to focus their investment 

governance budget on the asset allocation – the key driver of investment performance. 

22. The Common Investment Vehicle model would not affect the triennial valuation process 

which would remain as currently.  

Next Steps and Recommendations

23. The establishment of a CIV for pensions investment operated on behalf of the boroughs 

is clearly feasible and with a minimum level of buy in is potentially financially attractive. 

However, it does require a level of buy in at a political as well as technical level from 

councils to establish whether the initial interest of boroughs can be converted into real 

interest to make the initial investment in setting up the CIV worthwhile.  

24. Leaders’ Committee is recommended to: 

i. Note the work undertaken by the Working Group on considering the route towards 

establishing a potential CIV; 

ii. Commission the Working Group, to undertake further work, and report back on 

those issues which would need to be addressed in the setting up of any future 

CIV, including: 

a. Detailed consideration of possible governance mechanisms; 

b. A potential procurement strategy; and 

141



c. Options for establishing a possible host entity or Special Purpose Vehicle.  

iii. Agree in principle to move towards a CIV for those boroughs who wish to, subject 

to Leaders’ Committee consideration of the outcome of the further work by the 

Working Group. 

Financial Implications for London Councils 

None at this time 

Legal Implications for London Councils 

None at this time 

Equalities Implications for London Councils 

None

Appendices

Annex A: Welsh Local Government Pension Funds Working Together, March 2013 

Background Papers 

13 March 2012 Leaders’ Committee report: 
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/committees/agenda.htm?pk_agenda_items=4796

13 November 2012 Leaders’ Committee report: 
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/committees/agenda.htm?pk_agenda_items=5072

11 December 2012 Leaders’ Committee report: 
http://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/committees/agenda.htm?pk_agenda_items=5109

142



Agenda Item 17
Pages 143 to 198

143

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



146

This page is intentionally left blank



147

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



196

This page is intentionally left blank



197

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



198

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 18
Pages 199 to 204

199

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



204

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	8 Pension Implication of Service Outsourcing
	9 Information report - Presentation by WM
	10 Review of the Statement of Investment Principles
	Item 10 -  Appendix 1 - SIP

	11 Equity Training and Beliefs
	Item 11 - Appendix 1

	12 Infrastructure and Local Investing
	Item 12 - Appendix 1

	13 External Audit Plan 2012-13
	Item 13 Appendix 1 Deloitte Audit Plan

	14 Information Report - Update Report and Action Points from Previous Meetings
	15 London Pension Fund Collaboration
	Item 15 - Appendix 1 - Speech by Brandon Lewis on LGPS
	Item 15 - Appendix 2 - London Leaders' Pension Group

	17 Information Report - Investment Manager Monitoring
	Item 17 - PART II - Appendix 1 - Manager Monitoring Report
	Item 17 - PART II - Appendix 2 - Summary of Presentation by Fund Managers

	18 Information Report - Performance of Fund Managers for Quarter Ended 31 March 2013

